
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Tuesday, 7 September 2021 at 
7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

6. Minutes of meeting of Gravesham Joint Transportation Board (Pages 9 - 14)

7. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2021/22 - Quarter One (Pages 15 - 38)

8. HRA Budget Monitoring Report 2021/22 - Quarter One (Pages 39 - 54)



9. LGA Peer challenge Follow-up report an action plan (Pages 55 - 80)

10.Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2021-22 (Pages 81 - 
108)

11.Maritime Strategy Scrutiny Review (Pages 109 - 
140)

12.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

13.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

14.Drawdown request from Rosherville Property Development Limited (Pages 141 - 
146)

15.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Lauren Sullivan
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Cabinet

Tuesday, 28 June 2021  7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair) 
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair) 

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Lauren Sullivan 
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Sarah Parfitt          Director (Corporate Services) 
Daniel Killian Director (Housing) 
Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning) 
Lisa Nyon Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
Ben Clarke Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

10. Apologies for absence 

Apologies for absence were received from the Chief Executive, the Director (Environment) & 
Deputy Chief Executive and the Director (Communities). 

11. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on Monday, 22 March 2021 were signed by the 
Chair.

12. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what 
their interest is. 

Cllr Lenny Rolles declared a non- prejudicial interest for agenda item 7 and 8 as they made 
reference to the Rosherville Limited Board and Cllr Rolles was the Chair of that Board.  

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox declared a non-prejudicial interest in item 7 as he was a Council 
appointed member of the GCLL Management Board. 

13. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

There were no further decisions for Cabinet to be updated on. 

14. Corporate Debt Strategy 

The Cabinet were informed that a review of the Corporate Debt Strategy had taken place 
and it was reported that no fundamental changes had been made to the document.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 28.06.2021

2

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) guided Members through the report and 
highlighted key points regarding the: 

 Impact of Covid-19 on recovery action 
 Wider Considerations 
 Principles of the Corporate Debt Strategy 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that fair, efficient and effective debt 
recovery was essential to maintaining high collection rates and to drive debt levels down, 
however it was simultaneously important to treat customers fairly and consistently across all 
Council functions. The principles of the Corporate Debt Strategy aimed to achieve that. It 
was therefore recommended that Cabinet noted the report and supported the principles of 
the Corporate Debt Strategy as set out in appendix 2 and note the wider information on 
Vulnerable Persons as set out in appendices 3 & 4. 

The Chair noted that the most important part of the report was the principles of the 
Corporate Debt Strategy as it outlined that those residents that were struggling to pay would 
receive the support they needed from the Council and those who actively refused to pay 
their debt would be pursued by the Council. The Chair explained to Cabinet the difference 
between a resident who could not pay and resident who refused to pay; some residents may 
not be claiming all the benefits they were entitled to which the Council would inform them of 
and signpost to other agencies for support.  Those who refused to pay, Council officers 
would pursue to recover all of their debt. 

In response to Member questions, the Director (Corporate Services) and the Assistant 
Director (Corporate Services) explained that: 

 The total sum of outstanding debt stood at roughly £17.5 million but it was difficult to 
give a firm answer on what debts would be recovered in the short/long term due to 
the different natures of income streams that the Council managed e.g., Housing, 
Parking, Sundry debt etc. The Councils collection rates had been negatively 
impacted by Covid-19; the collection rate for Council Tax was down 2% compared to 
the previous financial year and a similar level was seen in the Business Rates 
collection as well. Collection for Housing Rents was slightly lower than in the 
previous financial year, but the Income Team had worked hard to communicate with 
tenants and made sure they made payments where they were able to. An important 
aspect was ensuing that all persons who were entitled to benefits were claiming them 
so that the debt they owed the Council could be reduced; repayment of all residents 
debts to the Council would be expected to take longer to pay due to Covid -19 but 
payments were still being made 

 Over the course of the next year, the recovery of debts and the budget would be 
monitored closely; there were a number of Government support structures that were 
currently in place and the Council had made a decision to actively assist working age 
residents on low incomes with additional Council Tax support. Those Government 
support structures would soon be stopping with the furlough scheme ending at the 
end of September and the business rates support scheme ending in the second or 
third quarter of the year. Following the ending of those support schemes, the Council 
would likely need to have more conversations with residents and business owners 
concerning the financial positions they were in, the level of outstanding debt they 
owed and how much longer it would take the Council to recover that debt 

Page 4



Cabinet 28.06.2021

3

 Business debts would be assessed on a case-by-case basis to determine if there 
was a need for an extension or write off of existing debts; the Finance Team would 
monitor trends all year-round regarding debt write offs as part of the quarterly reports 
received from the Income Manager 

 The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) was unaware of any additional support 
being given by the Government with regards to assisting with debts from residents 
and businesses. The Director (Corporate Services) confirmed that Government 
support schemes such as the Test & Trace Payment and the Sales, Fees and 
Charges Compensation Scheme were coming to an end on Wednesday 30 June 
2021, and nothing further had been announced 

 It was difficult to estimate that impact of the furlough scheme ending as the Council 
were unaware of what employers plans were; some of the furlough employees may 
be able to return to their jobs whilst others may find themselves made redundant or 
have their contract adjusted or terminated. The Council were working with a number 
of agencies through debt recovery arrangements such as Citizens Advice and other 
services which the Council would be able to signpost people to who were struggling 
financially. Additionally, from a Council Tax and Benefits perspective, the team were 
analysing data that been received to identify households that may be on the edge of 
financial crisis in order for the Council to intervene and offer support before a resident 
fell into a difficult situation.  This analytical tool had been presented and considered 
at a previous meeting of P&A Committee.. The report would be updated and taken 
back to the Committee throughout the course of the year 

Building upon the points made regarding recovery of debt, the Chair advised that the 
average rolling debt for the Council was £14.5/£15 million but it had increased to £17 million 
during this financial year. A large part of that increase was due to Council Tax collection (of 
which the Council only actually received 20% of the Council Tax payments) as the Council 
had a duty to collect the money but it did not affect the Council in revenue terms. Covid-19 
had delayed collecting the payments, but the Council would seek to recover the debt over a 
longer period; the Government had agreed that local authorities could put the loss over a 
two/three-year period in a medium-term plan which the Council had done allowing the debt 
to be collected over a longer time frame. 

Members praised the Vulnerable Persons Policy attached at appendix three to the report as 
it explained how vulnerable people would be supported through difficult times in their lives, 
how the Council would do everything possible to provide all necessary means of support and 
finally how the Council would deal with those residents who were capable but refused to pay 
their debts. It was recognised as a crucial part of the Corporate Debt Strategy. 

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report. 

15. General Fund Provisional Outturn Report 2020/21 

The Cabinet were presented with: 

 The 2020/21 provisional General Fund Outturn Report, including movements in the
General Fund working balances and earmarked reserves

 The 2020/21 provisional General Fund Capital Outturn 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that there was an executive summary of 
the report on page 24. 

Page 5



Cabinet 28.06.2021

4

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) updated Members on other key areas of 
financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), or Financial Statements.

The Chair reminded Cabinet that the report would be submitted to the next meeting of the 
F&A Committee for discussion and scrutiny. 

In response to Member questions, the Director (Corporate Services) and the Assistant 
Director (Corporate Services) advised that: 

 The Governments Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation Scheme was due to end 
on 30 June 2021 and no further information had been released on what support 
would be available after that scheme 

 With regards to Parking Services there was a £181K net adverse variance as the 
Council had only be able to recover 75% of the losses incurred however the 
Government also allowed a 5% deduction in income prior to the 75% recovery of 
losses. Effectively the Council had already lost an extra 5% before the 75% recovery 
was applied. In terms of income the Council had recovered roughly £1 million against 
a budget of £1.3 million 

 There would be longer term impacts to the Council finances from the decreased 
amount of debt recovered but they would be monitored and managed going forward 

The Chair thanked the Cabinet for their questions and explained that members of the 
Cabinet would have had more detailed discussions regarding their portfolios finances with 
their respective Directors prior to this meeting. 

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report. 

16. Housing Revenue Account Provisional Outturn Report 2020/21 

The Cabinet were presented with: 

 The 2020/21 provisional Housing Revenue Account Outturn and movements in the 
Housing Revenue Account working balances and earmarked reserves

 The 2020/21 provisional Housing Revenue Account Capital Outturn

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that there was an executive summary of 
the report on page 48.  

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) updated Members on other key areas of 
financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), or Financial Statements.

Cllr Wallace informed the Cabinet of some updates within her Portfolio: 

 Repairs & Maintenance had continued to make savings through efficiency; a number 
of new staff member had joined the staff and they each brought their own set of 
different skills to their respective teams 

Page 6



Cabinet 28.06.2021

5

 Due to the introduction of MOT style gas servicing, efficiency savings had been 
realised as a direct result whilst also providing a much better service to our tenants  

 The  Housing Income Team had performance excellently over the last financial year 
and their performance earned them a regional  award 

In response to Member questions, the Director (Housing) and the Director (Corporate 
Services) explained that: 

 It was difficult to quantity what may happen in the future with regards to recovery of 
housing income debt due to the end of support from the Government in the near 
future, the likelihood of no further support schemes being announced and each 
tenant’s individual situation. The Income Team followed the Corporate Debt Strategy 
of ‘can’t pay, won’t pay’ but the majority of the Council’s tenants worked alongside 
the Council and were signposted to agencies that may be adle to also provide 
support, including any benefits they may have been entitled to. 

 A definitive answer could not be given regarding if there would be a significant 
financial problem for tenants within the next twelve months as the Council were 
unaware if any further Government support would be released after the current 
support schemes came to an end 

 The Director (Housing) assured the Cabinet that the Council would continue it work 
with the Council’s tenants, provide as much support as was possible and signpost 
them to agencies if they required further assistance 

The Chair reiterated that the Councils Housing Team provided as much support to the 
Council’s tenants as possible and worked to ensure that all of the Council’s tenants claimed 
all the benefits that they were entitled to so that they could reduce their debts rather than see 
them build up. Over lockdown, the Council worked hard to distribute grants and support to 
those in need and it helped a lot of Gravesham residents. The Chair concluded that debts 
owed to the Council would be recovered sympathetically from those who were struggling to 
pay and in accordance with the Corporate Debt Strategy. 

The Chair reminded Cabinet that the report would be submitted to the next meeting of the 
F&A Committee for discussion and scrutiny. 

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report. 

17. Minutes of meeting of Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on 25 
May 2021 

The Cabinet were provided with the minutes of the meeting of Gravesham Joint 
Transportation Board on Tuesday, 25 May 2021. 

The Chair voiced his disappointment that no KCC officers attended the Board meeting as it 
was supposed to be a joint working arrangement between Gravesham Borough Council and 
Kent County Council. The Chair explained the importance of all relevant KCC officers and 
KCC Members for Gravesham attending the Board meeting and asked that a letter be 
written to KCC reminding them of their duties to the Board. 

The Cabinet noted the minutes.

Page 7



Cabinet 28.06.2021

6

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:19pm. 

Page 8



1

Gravesham Joint Transportation Board

Tuesday, 25 May 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Peter Scollard (Chair) 

Councillors: Brian Francis
Leslie Hills
Nirmal Khabra
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade (KCC) 
Alan Ridgers (KCC) 
Lauren Sullivan (KCC)

Nick May Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager
Andrew Patrick Dartford & Gravesham Cycling Forum Representative 
Alex Hills Dartford & Gravesham Cycling Forum Representative
Gary Outram Dartford & Gravesham Cycling Forum Representative
Ben Clarke Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

1. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from County Cllr Conrad Broadley (Vice-Chair), County 
Cllr Bryan Sweetland, the District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) and the Schemes Project 
Manager (KCC). 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

Cllr Hills pointed out a typo on page six of the minutes; it was 154 Lower Higham Road not 
134 Lower Higham Road. 

The minutes of the meeting of the Board held on Wednesday, 10 March 2021 were signed 
by the Chair.

3. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda.   When declaring an interest members should state what 
their interest is. 

Cllr Nirmal Khabra declared an other interest as he was a local taxi driver in the Borough of 
Gravesham.

4. Matters Arising from Previous Meetings 

As no KCC officers were in attendance, Cllr Sullivan asked that all of the Matters Arising 
queries from this meeting be carried over to the next meeting in case any further discussion 
was required with KCC officers. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 25.05.2021

2

The Chair agreed and asked the Committee Services Officer to action the request. 

Minute 174 (b) – Issues regarding Lower Higham Road, Chalk Road, Havisham Road 
and Orlick Road– Cllr Leslie Hills 

Cllr Hills requested an update for when the ‘Keep Clear’ road marking would be placed 
outside 154 Lower Higham Road as the disabled resident in that premises was still having to 
put up with vehicles parked at the bottom of his properties steps. Cllr Hills advised that the 
District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) had previously said KCC were waiting for better 
weather, but Cllr Hills requested a date that he could feed back to his constituent. 

The Chair agreed that the matter would be raised with the District Manager – Gravesham 
(KCC) and the Schemes Project Manager (KCC).

Cllr Hills advised that the potholes in Chalk were continually breaking apart and being filled 
back in; Cllr Hills felt that the potholes should not need repairing so often and should be 
made to last. 

Cllr Hills had previously requested yellow line for the junctions on Havisham Road/Chalk 
Road and Orlick Road/Lower Higham Road, but they still had not been installed. Cllr Hills 
was informed there had been a site visit but was disappointed to hear that as there had not 
been a serious accident in the aforementioned roads in the last five years, the yellow lines 
could not be installed. 

Cllr Hills advised that residents were still having problem with the amount of RS Skips 
vehicles driving through Lower Higham Road; Cllr Hills added that those skip lorries 
combined with upcoming works for the Nuralite Site, the Lower Thames Crossing and all of 
the drilling would greatly impact the residents of Chalk. 

Cllr Hills recently held a meeting with KCC, Higham Parish Council, Ward Cllrs and a Kent 
Highways Officer to discuss RS Skips travel routes; the KCC Highways Officer agreed to 
report back to the group after his meeting with the Highways Agency and Kent Police. Once 
the findings were reported back, Cllr Hills would seek a meeting with RS Skips, it was his 
understanding that currently they were allowed 74 visits a day through Chalk and they 
adhered to a 30mph limit through the village, but it seemed too fast for Lower Higham Road. 

The Chair understood Cllr Hills frustration and acknowledged that meetings were already in 
hand with Cllr Hills and KCC. 

Cllr Hills asked that his concerns be minuted regarding the drainage outside 203 Lower 
Higham Road as there was a build-up of water there which had caused the grass area to 
turn into thick mud and residents were worried it would freeze in the winter. The Schemes 
Project Manager (KCC) had assured Cllr Hills that it was on the work schedule and was due 
to be completed by July as it was a large job that required new pavement and drainage to be 
installed; Cllr Hills was skeptical of the timeframe. 

Cllr Hills also expressed gratitude to Cllr Rodgers who recently organised and paid for a 
traffic survey in Lower Higham Road which had been shared with the aforementioned group. 

Page 10



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 25.05.2021

3

County Cllr Sullivan shared Cllr Hill’s concern regarding ‘no action could be taken unless 
there was a serious accident’ and raised KCC new Zero Vision Policy which looked at 
preventative action and mitigating the changes of serious accidents. 

County Cllr Sullivan added that there were significant questions to be asked concerning road 
safety and road maintenance so it would be beneficial if more senior KCC officers such as 
the senior officer who wrote the KCC Zero Vision Policy were invited to future Board 
meetings. 

Previous set of Gravesham JTB Minutes 02 December 2020 - 159. Gravesham 
Highway Forward Works Programme -2019/20onwards – Old Road East 

County Cllr Ridgers advised that a resident on Old Road East contacted the Board last year 
about speeding vehicles on Old Road East which had been left without a resolution. The 
District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) was asked to respond to the resident in question as 
County Cllr Ridgers had agreed to use some of his Member fund to pay for a traffic survey 
however neither the resident nor County Cllr Ridgers received a response.  

County Cllr Ridgers advised that the resident had written three more times and the Schemes 
Project Manager (KCC) had been contacted who had promised she would look into the 
issue. County Cllr Ridgers requested an update form KCC on the matter at the next Board 
meeting. 

Minute 150 – Highways Works Programme 2019/20 onwards Bus Hub at Garrick Street

Cllr Khabra requested an update on whether or not taxis would be allowed to pass through 
the bus gate in Garrick Street. 

The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager advised that he had requested 
a meeting with KCC to through discuss how the bus gate would operate, but a response had 
not been received yet. The bus hub was not going live until November 2021 so there was 
still time to get processes in place. 

5. Improving Walking and Cycling in Gravesham 

The Chair welcomed Andrew Patrick, Alex Hills and Gary Outram, representatives from the 
Dartford & Gravesham Cycling Forum, to the Board meeting. 

Andrew Patrick, Alex Hills and Gary Outram gave an oral presentation to the Committee and 
outlined key points regarding: 

 The benefits of cycling and walking as a means of transport within Gravesham 
 The Prime Ministers announcement around improving cycling in the country and the 

pot of £3 billion in the Active Travel Fund that was available to all local authorities to 
bid for in order to improve the cycling/walking infrastructure in the Borough  

 The multiple documents that were readily available to local authorities such as LTN 
120, Gear Change, the Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy, Air Quality Policy, 
and the Planning Policy Framework for Sustainable Transport. Many of those which 
would be essential for local authorities to follow when they wanted to bid for the 
Active Travel Fund. Local authorities that followed the guidance within the technical 
LTN 120 document would be the most likely to have successful bids. Having a plan in 
place to improve cycling/walking infrastructure to meet the needs of people 

Page 11



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 25.05.2021

4

conducting everyday journeys would be in line with Government Policy and would 
improve Gravesham’s bid significantly 

 The LTN 120 document would vastly help with the cycle infrastructure design and the 
Local, Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LC WHIP) would provide key 
technical guidance for local authorities to follow 

 The six key stages within the LC WHIP were Determining Scope – Stage 1, 
Gathering Information – Stage 2, Network Planning for Cycling – Stage 3, Network 
Planning for Walking – Stage 4, Prioritizing Improvements – Stage 5

 All of the key documents could be found on the Government’s website and expanded 
further on all technical guidance   

 The decline in transport services for rural areas was also a form of exclusion as 
many people who don’t drive were excluded from applying for jobs that were further 
away as they had no means of getting there form a rural area. Improved 
cycling/waking infrastructure would allow those people to take upcycling/walking as a 
form of commuting 

 There were several types of measures which could be implemented to improve 
cycling infrastructure such as the installation of 20 mph speed limit areas in 
residential or retail areas in order to make cyclists and walkers feel safer. There were 
other forms of mitigation such as slow traffic area and removing the barriers that 
currently existed for cyclist/walkers; any new cycling/walking infrastructure that was 
installed needed to be completely inclusive so that anyone could use it  

 Cycling had been proven to improve both physical and mental health being, and 
cycling helped to connect local communities together  

 Gravesham’s Local Plan recognised that cycling and walking were essential modes 
of transport and should be considered as the preferred first choice of transport for 
people making short journeys 

Cllr Hills raised concern over the implementation of 20mph areas as the Council wanted to 
become carbon neutral by 2030 and the slower speed areas meant increased carbon 
emissions. It was also Cllr Hills understanding all 20mph areas had to have speed bumps 
which were costly to install. 

Alex Hills explained that 20mph were just one possible measure that could be used; there 
were many other types of measures that could be implemented by the Council. 

Cllr Lane informed the Committee that he had previously looked at 20mph areas and speed 
bumps weren’t mandatory for those areas however it was still expensive to implement and 
there was usually resistance to reduction in speed limits. 

Alex Hills advised that 20mph areas were still a much cheaper option that putting in cycle 
lanes around the Borough. 

The Chair advised that in his line of work, volunteers had received bikes from the Police, and 
they had found it very useful and healthy. Once they received full time jobs, they were 
allowed to keep the bikes as a mode of transport to and from their workplace. 

The Chair queried what other funding was available and how the Council could start to work 
on a bid. 

County Cllr Sullivan explained that it most likely fell under her KCC portfolio and it was 
definitely something worth looking into. County Cllr Sullivan advised that she would contact 

Page 12



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 25.05.2021

5

the Dartford & Gravesham Cycling Forum outside of the meeting to go over the details 
further. 

Alex Hills thanked the Councillors and advised that the Forum would support any bid the 
Council put forward. 

In response to a Members question, Alex Hills confirmed that their Forum had been in 
contact with the EDC throughout the Ebbsfleet Garden City project as well as having 
discussions with Albion Waterside too.   

Gary Outram reiterated that the £5 billion was to be distributed over a period of five years 
and so far, in year one, the vast majority of that fund had not been distributed; using the LC 
WHIP and having a cohesive cycling infrastructure in place would take Gravesham to the top 
of the distribution list. 

Gary Outram outlined KCC’s success at bidding for the Emergency Active Travel Fund 
during tranche one; County Cllr Sullivan explained that the sudden implementation of the 
cycle lane posts did not go down well with the public as there was no consultation. It would 
be preferable for Gravesham to make the decisions for cycle infrastructure rather in 
Gravesham, rather than KCC. 

It was recognised by Members that cycling and walking had sharply risen during lockdown 
as a form of exercise and helped with peoples mental wellbeing, but Cllr Meade requested 
examples where funding had been used in the past to make a more cohesive environment 
for cyclist and walkers. Cllr Meade advised that Saxon Shore Way was a popular destination 
for both cyclists and walkers, but it was actually a public footpath and sometimes there was 
friction between the two groups. 

Gary Outram explained that there were examples of bad behaviour found in all forms of 
transport but there were measures that could be introduced to mitigate issues such as 
proper signage, segregated areas designated solely for cyclists and improving current 
roads/paths. 

Andrew Patrick advised that he was on the Darent Valley Land Partnership Group and they 
were looking at providing a cycling route down Darent Valley in conjunction with the footpath 
which required a change of status. It was possible that a similar approach could be followed 
in Gravesham for areas such as Saxon Shore Way. 

Following a Members question on the Forums stance on E-Scooters, Alex Hills advised that 
they needed regulation by the Government as they were causing issues for people and 
could be quite dangerous if handled inappropriately; they also had roughly the same carbon 
footprint as a car, so they weren’t that environmentally friendly. 

The Chair thanked the representatives for attending the meeting and clarified that County 
Cllr Sullivan would contact them outside of the meeting to take the matter forward. 

6. For Information Reports 

6.1 Kent Highways Update Report 

The Committee were presented with an update report from KCC Highways on the 
Transportation and Safety Schemes and the Combined Member Grant Programme. 

Page 13



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 25.05.2021

6

County Cllr Sullivan suggested that when the KCC officers could not attend the Board 
meeting, a more senior officer such as Simon Jones should be invited to attend. 

Members noted the report

7. Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

County Cllr Ridgers raised the issue of E-Scooters within the Borough and its links to county 
line gangs. 

County Cllr Ridgers as advised that the issue fell under the remit of the Crime & Disorder 
Security Committee and he was encouraged to read the minutes of the previous Crime & 
Disorder Scrutiny Committee meeting as the Police brought a report to the meeting on the 
issue and outlined their plans to deal with E-Scooters. 

County Cllr Meade advised that the Police & Crime Commissioner recently published a 
useful article on E-Scooters and agreed to circulate it to Members of the Board. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:33pm. 

Page 14



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

    Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Report for Cabinet
Report for Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 7 September 2021 / 21 September 2021

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 
2021/22 – Quarter One

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2021/22, including projected variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key areas of financial performance that may have an impact on 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), or 
Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

 This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance. This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2021/22 financial year for 
the first quarter to 30th June 2021, as well as updating Members on other key areas of 
financial performance.

1.2. The Council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s finances.  In 
addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring 
reports, these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to Management 
Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity which impacts on either budgetary provision or results in a 
permanent change to the staffing establishment to be considered and approved by 
Management Team

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 15 Agenda Item 7



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Revenue

2.1. There has been minimal movement against budget during Quarter One, and given the 
relatively early stage of the financial year, many nil variances are therefore being 
reported. At the end of Quarter One, there is a projected adverse variance for the year of 
£43,180. 

2.2. As reported in the 2020/21 Outturn Report, the Council ended the previous year in a 
favourable position, enabling budgets totalling £147,290 to be approved for carry 
forward into 2021/22. 

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end is projected to be £11.65m, constituted of 
minimum working balances of £2.0m, the General Fund reserve of £3.25m and usable 
Working Balances of £6.40m.

2.4. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net decrease in earmarked reserves 
of £7.31m. This reflects the start of the year position being £19.08m, and projected to be 
£11.77m at year-end. Of this movement, £4.41m relates to the NNDR Collection Fund 
Equalisation Reserve - see section 3.9.5 for further details.

2.5. It is important to note that significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position 
continue to come from the lack of clarity regarding the long-term future of local 
government funding and the financial consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic as 
central government supports starts to unwind in 2021/22.

2.6. Capital

2.7. The General Fund Capital Programme working budget is £57.32m, including £30.60m 
relating to The Charter, £5.15m for the St George’s Centre, £4m for a New Leisure 
Centre, and a combined £6.95m relating to Property/Land Acquisition schemes.  Actual 
spend, as at the end of Quarter One was £5.90m. 

3. REVENUE

3.1. Budget 2021/22

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2021/22 was £6,420,640, funded by a 
combination of retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, and Council Tax.  It 
also enabled a contribution of £98,270 to be made to Usable Working Balances, in 
accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. The table on the next page sets out the current assessment of performance against the 
Original Budget by Directorate, based on known and projected variances as at 30 June 
2021. 

Page 16



3

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2021/22 (£)

Forecast 
2021/22 (£)

Variation 
2020/22 (£)

Chief Executive 168,160 168,160 0
Communities 3,850,700 3,850,700 0
Corporate Services 2,917,210 2,836,580 (80,630)
Environment 5,511,040 5,511,040 0
Housing 1,225,680 1,225,680 0
Items carried forward from 2020/21 0 147,290 147,290
Non-Directorate Specific 888,960 888,960 0
Interest and Investment Income (772,000) (772,000) 0
Government Grant Funding (1,308,260) (1,308,260) 0
Transfers to/ (from) reserves (7,148,150) (7,276,210) (128,060)
Transfers to/ (from) balances 311,050 311,050 0
Transactions below the line 776,250 880,830 104,580
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 6,420,640 6,463,820 43,180

Business Rates Income (3,565,940) (3,565,940) 0
Council Tax Income (7,333,580) (7,333,580) 0
Parish Precepts (403,160) (403,160) 0
New Homes Bonus (311,050) (311,050) 0
Lower Tier Services Grant (126,260) (126,260) 0
Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 5,221,080 5,221,080 0
Use of Working Balances 98,270 98,270 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 43,180 43,180

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

3.2. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.2.1 There are no significant variances to report.

3.3. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.3.1. Street Lighting: Neutral variance – reserve funding of £73k (£23k from the NNDR 
Growth Fund Reserve, and £50k from Revenue Grants not yet applied) has been 
released in 2021/22 to facilitate the continuation of a Street Lighting project which 
commenced during 2020/21. This involves the conversion, where possible, of Council-
owned street and amenity lighting to LED lighting, as well as providing for maintaining 
and fixing existing assets.

3.3.2. Leisure Services: Neutral variance – reserve funding totalling £22k was initially made 
available during 2020/21 to support the furtherance of leisure development activities. 
This incorporated a refresh of the 2016 Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy, and a 
subsequent feasibility study to investigate the future of existing leisure provisions within 
the borough. The study includes an evaluation of prospective future capital and revenue 
costs as well as a management options appraisal to assist the Council in determining 

Page 17



4

the optimum way forward. £6k of the reserve funding was spent during 2020/21, with the 
remaining £16k now released to enable the studies to be completed during 2021/22.

3.3.3. Market Equipment: Neutral variance – reserve funding totalling £33k was initially 
made available during 2020/21 to finance necessary works at the Borough Market to 
extend the number of units capable of accommodating food traders. This incorporated a 
combination of electrical, extraction and kitchen works, designed to extend food-trading 
capabilities to an additional six units, and linked with the Market Strategy, which was 
formally adopted in May 2020. £22k of the reserve funding was spent during 2020/21, 
with the remaining £11k now released to complete the works during 2021/22.

3.4      CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £81k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE
3.4.1 Interest Payable: £81k favourable variance – expenditure within the General Fund 

Capital Programme during 2020/21 was lower than originally budgeted, which meant 
that there was a reduced borrowing requirement than initially envisaged. This is turn led 
to lower associated interest costs, which has continued into 2021/22 generating a 
positive budgetary impact. Additionally, where borrowing has been required, it has been 
at lower interest rates than originally budgeted, and therefore a combination of these two 
factors has led to a favourable projected variance of £81k in 2021/22.

 
3.4.2 Climate Change Initiatives: Neutral variance – following the success of the “Recycling 

On the Go” project which was trialled at St Andrew’s Gardens during 2020/21, the 
scheme is now being extended across other park areas – Riverside Leisure Area, 
Woodlands Parks and Camer Park. Resultantly, £28k has been made available from the 
Climate Change Reserve to support this work, which will enable the purchase of dual 
compartment litter and recycling bins, increasing both the litter capacity available as well 
as the aesthetic appearance at these locations.

3.5     ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE  – NIL VARIANCE
3.5.1 There are no significant variances to report. 

3.6     HOUSING DIRECTORATE –  NIL VARIANCE
3.6.1 There are no significant variances to report.

Page 18



5

3.7 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2020/21 – £147,290

3.7.1 The following items from 2020/21 have been approved for carry forward to 2021/22 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team:

Summary of General Fund 2020/21 year-end carry-forward requests

Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2021/22

Communities Environmental Health £6,100 Statutory Air Quality Action Plan required by DEFRA
Communities Community Engagement £15,000 Match funding of Cultural Waterside Grant - grant decision 

awaited. To assist with welcoming back to town centre 
following easing of Covid-19 restrictions.

Communities Basecamp £7,610 MOD Funding to be used for future armed forces event.
Communities Town Centre £14,250 Light Festival postponed from 2020/21.
Communities Town Centre £21,000 Investment in Town Centre activities as part of welcome 

back post restrictions.
Communities Arts Development £16,140 Align funds to the 2021/22 Arts & Cultural delivery 

programme, following cessation of Gravesham Arts 
Council SLA during 2020.

Communities Arts Development £3,370 Ticket sales from outdoor events to be used to fund 
events in 2021/22.

Communities Regulatory Services £19,500 Digital offering improvements to enhance overall service 
delivery - IT software & equipment.

Environment Cemeteries £9,320 Major works planned for Northfleet Cemetery in 2021/22.
Housing Private Housing £35,000 Housing Stock Condition Survey.

Total carry-forward requests £147,290

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2020/21

 
3.8     FUNDING STREAMS – £23K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.8.1 Transfers to/(from) reserves & Transactions below the line: net neutral variance – 
under accounting arrangements the corresponding entries relating to reserve-funded 
expenditure within services (the drawdown from the reserve and the transfer into the 
specific service) are shown here. The total of £128k relates to projected reserve funded 
items as described within individual Communities and Corporate Services Directorate 
sections above.

3.8.2 Transactions below the line – Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP): £23k 
favourable variance – the MRP charge for 2021/22 is based on the Council’s 
cumulative capital spend that is financed from either internal or external borrowing up to 
the end of 2020/21.  As the capital spend in 2020/21 on schemes financed from these 
sources was lower than anticipated at the time of setting the 2021/22 budget, there is a 
resulting projected favourable variance relating to MRP in 2021/22 of £23k.

Page 19



6

3.9     WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES

3.9.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect    
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2020/21 11,283,080 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 311,050 
Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund 98,270 
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2020/21) (43,180)
Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2021) including 
Minimum GF Working Balance 11,649,220 
Less: Minimum GF balance (2,000,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (3,250,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2021) 6,399,220 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

3.9.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
projected movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Forecast Forecast Forecast
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2021 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2022
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 465 (232) 200 433 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,163 (635) 100 628 
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,657 (1,983) 359 33 
Corporate Priorities Reserve 535 (100) 435 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 123 13 136 
Elections Reserve 74 18 92 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 5,075 (4,406) 669 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 371 (200) 100 271 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 474 (132) 132 474 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,223 221 1,444 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 375 (376) 226 225 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 140 140 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 240 57 297 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 500 
Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 700 
St George's Income Protection Reserve 1,240 1,240 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 1,147 (15) 1,132 
 Service Review Reserve 83 83 
 Playgrounds Reserve 136 (160) 69 45 
Decriminalisation Reserve 228 (210) 18 
Enterprise Reserve 151 (353) 375 173 
Climate Change Reserve 485 (28) 457 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 16,585 (8,830) 1,870 9,625 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 2,494 (345) --  2,149 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 19,079 (9,175) 1,870 11,774 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

Page 20



7

3.9.3 New approved uses of reserves are already referred to within individual directorates – 
see sections 3.3.1, 3.3.2, 3.3.3 and 3.4.2

3.9.4 Other reserve movements are initially forecast as per the original budget, and are 
subsequently updated as further expenditure plans are established. This can include 
use for both capital and revenue purposes, and incorporates any potential re-phasing of 
capital schemes between current and future years.

3.9.5 Of the overall projected net movement in earmarked reserves of around £7.3m, £4.4m, 
which equates to around 60% of this total, relates to the budgeted drawdown within the 
NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve. This is a unique situation for 2021/22, and 
is due to Collection Fund accounting arrangements arising from the Business Rates 
position attributable to the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020/21.

3.9.6 The additional Business Rates Section 31 grants received in 2020/21 (to compensate 
the Council for the loss of Business Rates income as a result of the extended retail relief 
given to retail, hospitality and leisure businesses, and nursery providers to support them 
through the pandemic), were transferred to the reserve at year-end 2020/21. The 
legislation that governs Collection Fund accounting means the related deficit as a result 
of the loss of Business Rates income during 2020/21 is not chargeable to the Council’s 
General Fund until 2021/22. As a result, the £4.4m reflected in the table above, will be 
drawn down from the reserve to offset this deficit in 2021/22 and is therefore not an 
available resource to the Council.

Page 21



8

3.10     MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

3.10.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around cost pressures and central 
government funding announcements, together with building in all known variances to the 
Council’s budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The MTFP 
shows that our budgeted expenditure will exceed our income for the foreseeable future. 
The latest version of the Medium Term Financial Plan is attached to this report at 
Appendix Two.

    Wider Risk Implications

3.10.2 As government support unwinds and the financial legacy of COVID-19 impacts start to 
emerge, it is difficult to predict how the MTFP will be affected during the short to medium 
term. As far as possible provision was made during the budget setting process for 
known impacts at that time. The council has experienced an increase in demand for 
some services and there are some income streams that are likely to be adversely 
impacted during this financial year, however these impacts are not yet fully known.

3.10.3 During the pandemic, there has been an increase in demand for temporary 
accommodation requests and homelessness provision. This is currently being managed 
within current budgets and management are taking steps to make changes to improve 
efficiency. The situation will continue to be kept under review and any financial impacts 
will be noted in future reporting. 

3.10.4 Although planning income is currently meeting expectations this could be affected going 
forward. 

3.10.5 In the area of car parking income, the council had budgeted for a decrease in income of 
£394K this financial year. Income levels continue to be monitored and any variances will 
be reported at future budget monitoring reports.

3.10.6 The MTFP is continually monitored and it is intended that at the end of Quarter Two 
further updates will be possible to provide more clarity on the financial impacts to the 
MTFP. 

Local Government Finance

3.10.7 There continues to be uncertainty on the long-term future of local government funding. 
Central Government support during the pandemic is starting to unwind and at the time of 
writing this report we are unaware of what future support will be made available to local 
government, if any. The Sales Fees and Charges compensation scheme came to an 
end on 30th June 2021. The final return under this scheme is expected during August 
2021 and it is likely that we will receive our last payment sometime in the Autumn.

Spending Review 2021

3.10.8 Reports in the Financial Times during July 2021 indicated that the spending review 
would be launched sometime during the summer. However, due to the “pingdemic”, the 
Chancellor has been forced to delay its launch until September. As reported recently in 
the news both the Chancellor and the Prime Minister were self-isolating, which has 
delayed both the spending review and an announcement on social care. 

Page 22



9

3.10.9 The Chancellor had planned to formally launch the spending review before the Summer 
Recess. Treasury sources have been quoted as saying that “preparatory work for the 
review had already begun and would continue over the summer”. The delayed “formal 
launch” will be in September and will provide “details for how much overall government 
spending will rise by in the next financial year”. The delay probably also makes a 
November announcement more likely than October. 

3.10.10From a local government funding perspective, the Chancellor’s launch statement in       
September should give us a broad outline of the spending totals that are available. 
However, details about the package for local government in 2022-23 are not going to be 
known until later in November, or even the provisional settlement in December 2021. It 
is still anticipated that the spending review will cover the remainder of the parliament, 
but the tight timescales might now make a one-year settlement more likely.

Borrowing 

Central Government Proposals, Capital Finance Framework

3.10.11The current system to regulate capital finance, has been in place since 2004, and is 
           based on the principle of local decision making and accountability. Local authorities are      
           free to determine their own capital strategies and decide how they deliver services on the 
           principle that they are best placed to make the decisions needed to support their local 
           communities.

3.10.12 The risks associated with borrowing for commercial investments have received 
particular attention. Since 2016, there has been a significant increase in local authority 
borrowing correlated with an increase in commercial investment. The National Audit 
Office report Local Authority Investment in Commercial Property stated that the 
estimated local authority investment in commercial property from 2016-17 to 2018-19 
was £6.6 billion and local authority commercial property acquisitions had risen by more 
than 14-fold in the period 2016-17 to 2018-19, compared with the preceding three years.

3.10.13 As a result, the Government plans to strengthen the current system while protecting the     
principles of local decision making. It intends to set out plans for both improving the  
stewardship role of MHCLG and to strengthen the current capital system so that it  
remains effective in driving good decision making and preventing excessive risk. It  
builds on some of the changes we have already seen, to the operation of the Public 
Works Loan Board (PWLB), which have been in place since November 2020 which are 
designed to stop local authorities from accessing PWLB borrowing if they are planning 
on undertaking investments primarily for yield. These changes were reported to 
members in July. We will inform members of the outcome of the government’s proposed 
changes and their potential impact in due course.

UK Infrastructure Bank

3.10.14  Launched in interim form in June 2021, the UK Infrastructure Bank (UKIB) is a private 
limited company wholly owned and backed by HM Treasury.

3.10.15 The new government-owned UK Infrastructure Bank (UKIB) is focused on increasing 
infrastructure investment across the United Kingdom. It will partner with the private 
sector and local government to finance a green industrial revolution and drive growth 
across the country.

Page 23



10

The Bank’s core objectives are to:

 Help tackle climate change, particularly meeting the net zero emissions target by 
2050.

 Support regional and local economic growth through better connectivity, 
opportunities for new jobs and higher levels of productivity.

3.10.16 The Bank will help to finance important projects in every region and nation of the UK in   
sectors including clean energy, transport, digital, water and waste.

3.10.17Working in partnership with local government and the private sector, the Bank will 
harness investment tailored to the needs of specific infrastructure projects, offering a 
range of financing tools including debt, equity, and guarantees.

3.10.18The bank will have an initial £12 billion of capital to deploy and will be able to issue £10 
billion of government guarantees, helping to unlock more than £40 billion of overall 
investment.

3.10.19The Bank’s £22 billion of financial capacity will consist of £5 billion of equity, £7 billion of  
debt, and £10 billion of guarantees.

3.10.20Local authority projects will be supported later in 2021.  From late summer 2021, 
financing will be available to local and mayoral authorities across the UK, for high-value 
and complex economic infrastructure projects.

3.10.21There are restrictions on borrowing for certain projects and lending rates are expected to 
be in line with the Public Works Loan Board however, we as an authority will monitor 
any updates and add this institution for consideration as a potential source of funding 
should there be a suitable project that meets the lending criteria.

            COVID-19

  3.10.22 The Council continues to act in an agency capacity, administering a series of business 
grants as part of national schemes the Government designed to help support local 
economies. As of writing, the Council has paid out over £26m.  This has been achieved 
through cross-departmental working involving officers from the Finance, Revenues & 
Benefits and Economic Development teams. This has enabled a further unlocking of 
Central Government funding in the region of £692K, which will be distributed to help 
support local businesses in the Borough.

Page 24



11

4.       GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The following table details the position of General Fund Capital Programme as at the 
end of Quarter One. This includes the revised original budget for 2021/22, taking into 
consideration adjustments for carried forward items as approved by the Section151 
Officer and the Council’s Management Team.

Scheme 2021/22 
Original 
Budget             

£

2021/22 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2021/22 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2021/22 
Actual 

Expenditure       
£

Outstanding 
Balance            

£
Essential Repairs to Buildings 615,000 307,350 922,350 24,010 (898,340)
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 0 14,830 14,830 0 (14,830)
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 232,000 292,560 524,560 125,940 (398,620)
Gatekeeper Replacement 0 50,000 50,000 0 (50,000)
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 0 100,000 100,000 0 (100,000)
Waste & Horticulture back office system 108,690 (17,850) 90,840 0 (90,840)
Replacement Playground Programme 159,870 0 159,870 0 (159,870)
IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 0 40,000 40,000 5,610 (34,390)
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 0 1,400,000 0 (1,400,000)
Property Acquisition Programme 3,286,980 0 3,286,980 0 (3,286,980)
Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 0 3,658,810 0 (3,658,810)
Land at Dering Way 3,590,190 0 3,590,190 0 (3,590,190)
St George's Centre 5,151,550 (480) 5,151,070 0 (5,151,070)
Cascades Replacement Flumes 0 3,730 3,730 0 (3,730)
Heritage Assets 200,000 44,570 244,570 0 (244,570)
Gym Equipment  Leisure Centres 0 47,800 47,800 0 (47,800)
Back up Generator 60,000 0 60,000 0 (60,000)
Parking Machines 251,200 0 251,200 0 (251,200)
LATCO development costs 0 18,600 18,600 0 (18,600)
LATCO working capital provision 0 225,010 225,010 0 (225,010)
Elizabeth Huggins Cottages 2,000,000 0 2,000,000 0 (2,000,000)
Parking Software 0 18,570 18,570 12,110 (6,460)
Purchase of Freighters 0 400,000 400,000 205,200 (194,800)
Enforcement of Private Housing 0 20,040 20,040 10,210 (9,830)
IT Infrastructure Assets 200,000 89,490 289,490 19,490 (270,000)
The Charter 27,295,500 3,299,680 30,595,180 5,451,860 (25,143,320)
Barrock Row Public Conveniences 0 4,340 4,340 2,360 (1,980)
Website Content Management System 65,000 0 65,000 0 (65,000)
MOT Lane, Brookvale Workshop 37,000 0 37,000 40,420 3,420
Street Cleaning Machine 49,000 0 49,000 0 (49,000)
New Leisure Centre 4,000,000 0 4,000,000 0 (4,000,000)

52,360,790 4,958,240 57,319,030 5,897,210 (51,421,820)

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2021/22

 Essential Repairs to Buildings – the phased upgrade of lighting within the Civic 
Centre to LED continues.  Three roofs at Cascades leisure centre have been recovered. 
We are now awaiting prices on recovering roofs at the Brookvale Depot together with 
confirmation that works proposed comply with Building Regulations.

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements - a number of improvement works are currently 
underway. This work is expected to be complete by the end of the 2021/22 financial 
year.

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – the vehicle fleet replacement plan is currently 
under review to take account of the potential purchase of electric vehicles.  A review is 

Page 25



12

being currently being undertaken by the Energy Saving Trust. The outcome of this 
review will help inform the decision making with regard to the purchase electric vehicles.

 Gatekeeper Replacement – Kent County Council approval has been received to 
introduce Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) enforcement of the King Street 
bus gate. Confirmation of the programme for installation is awaited prior to capital 
expenditure on the equipment being made.

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – The review of all flatted developments across 
the borough is underway to establish the type of bins required to enable residents in 
flats to be able to recycle their waste. A project plan for the implementation of recycling 
bins in GBC owned flats has been produced and bins are being purchased to support 
this plan. We are working with privately owned blocks of flats to implement dry recycling 
services.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – Work has started on the procurement of 
digital solutions for the Street Cleansing Service and to trial litter bin sensors.

 Replacement Playground Programme – a 20-year replacement programme is in place 
and is under review.  Orders has been placed to undertake some surfacing repairs. 

 IT Equipment air conditioning unit – contactors are now working on site with works 
due to complete by end of August.

 Brookvale Office Accommodation - Work to redesign the Brookvale depot and deliver 
commercial accommodation at the site has been deferred to this financial year. No 
further update has been received for Quarter One.

 Property Acquisition Programme – No property acquisitions were considered in the 
first quarter of the financial year.

 Land Acquisition Programme – No Land acquisition opportunities were considered in 
the first quarter of the financial year.

 St George’s Centre – There are currently no further works planned to the St Georges 
Shopping Centre during this quarter.

 Cascades Replacement Flumes - The flumes are now available to be used once the 
Cascades pool re-opens in the summer in line with Covid-19 restrictions being lifted. A 
small amount of remedial work remains to the external flume steelworks. This work is 
expected to be completed during the summer.

 Heritage Assets – capital expenditure to date relates to surveys and site investigations 
in support of progressing works to the council’s heritage property assets.  Preparations 
are being made for works to the St Andrew’s Riverwall and maintenance works to the 
Gravesend Blockhouse.  Expressions of interest are being finalised for submission of 
projects for funding to the National Heritage Lottery Fund.

 Gym Equipment Leisure Centres – The main gym equipment at both leisure centres 
has been updated during the Covid-19 pandemic period. A decision to hold back on 
replacing the spin bikes was taken with GCLL whilst current Government guidelines 
restricted the amount of people that could take part in-group exercise sessions. 
Therefore, it is anticipated that these will be replaced later in the financial year once the 
leisure centres are able to operate without a limit on participant numbers.

Page 26



13

 Back-up Generator – an upgrade option is being investigated and a possibility of used 
replacement is being explored.

 Parking Machines - options are currently being appraised for the replacement and 
upgrade of Pay & Display machines. Steps are being taken to make a recommendation 
for decision later in the year.

 LATCO Development Costs - no request for further drawdown were received in first 
quarter of the financial year.

 LATCO Working Capital Provision - no request for further drawdown of the working 
capital provision were received from Rosherville Limited as at the end of the first quarter.

 
 Elizabeth Huggins Cottages - no request for drawdown of funding was received in the 

first quarter of the financial year.  On 18 May 2021 Full Council authorised the loan 
facility to be made available for all stages of the development scheme, not just the 
element of the scheme previously referred to as phase one.

 Parking Software - the back office parking software and the virtual permit system has 
been implemented and is now live. The environmental enforcement module and the bus 
gate enforcement module has not been implemented yet. Both are due to go live in the 
during this financial year.

 Purchase of Freighters - two new refuse collection vehicles have been ordered and 
are due to be delivered.  The current replacement programme has been suspended until 
the results of the Consistency in Household Waste Consultation has been released, so 
any potential effect to service delivery can be assessed.

 Enforcement of Private Housing Standards - This programme of work has now been 
completed and signed-off by our Senior Environmental Health Officer (Private Housing). 
There are some outstanding invoices yet to be received and paid.

 IT Infrastructure Assets – there has been no change in expenditure. However, approx. 
£100k will be spent in September 2021 on licence renewals and upgrades to the Citrix 
system.

 The Charter - Legal agreements between all parties were agreed on 16th March 2021 
and works on site are underway to bring forward 242 residential units and a new multi-
storey car park.  A ground-breaking ceremony took place on 15 June 2021.

 Barrock Row Public Conveniences – This is part of a wider Kent County Council bus 
interchange project and relates to the inclusion of public toilets. £4k was rolled over to 
the 21/22 budget to cover the remaining cost towards the electricity connection and the 
expected cost from Southern Water for the new facility.

 Website Content Management System – Officers are currently exploring 
procurements options for the most effective way of facilitating this project with a decision 
to be made during the 2nd quarter of 2021/22 on the most appropriate way forward.

 MOT Lane, Brookvale Workshop – The MOT Lane has now been procured. The 
groundworks are underway with expected completion to be August/September 2021.

 New leisure Centre – A feasibility study on future leisure centre provision is currently 
being undertaken by KKP leisure consultants. This work is in two phases. The first 
phase includes an update on the existing indoor built leisure strategy work undertaken in 

Page 27



14

2016 in order to revise current and future deficiencies; with the second phase outlining 
options for a new built facility, with a primary focus on the Cascades Leisure Centre site. 
It was estimated that both phases of this initial strategic work would be completed by 
September 2021.  

Page 28



15

5 Capital Resources

5.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in      
the future:    

General Fund Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2021                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2021/22                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2021/22                                                          

£       

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2022           
£

Capital Receipts (473,940) (6,670) 480,610 0
S106 Capital Contributions (577,200) (285,280) 0 (862,480)
Capital Grants unapplied (138,500) 0 0 (138,500)
Total Capital Resources (1,189,640) (291,950) 480,610 (1,000,980)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2021/22

Capital Grants Unapplied
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2020                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2021/22                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2021/22              

£

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2022              
£

Transport Quarter Stage 3 0 0 0 0
Localised Council Tax Support (83,500) 0 0 (83,500)
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (138,500) 0 0 (138,500)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2021/22

Page 29



5.1. The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions
General 

Fund             
£

HRA               
£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2021/22                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,590) 0.00 0.00 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0.00 0.00 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0.00 0.00 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (17,000) 0.00 0.00 (17,000) Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000.
Whitehill Road   0.00 0.00 (2,680) (2,680) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0.00 0.00 (150,000)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (189,120) 0.00 0.00 (189,120)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Dover Road - Open space (50,000) 0.00 0.00 (50,000)

For use by Gravesend Council leisure for Springhead Recreation Ground pitch 
improvements at Dover Road Development,  Includes levelling works to make 
'pitch' 2  more usable to accommodate junior markings and potential 5V5 pitch.

Cold Harbour Road (92,000) 0.00 0.00 (92,000)
To be used to fund projects to improve and enhance the Fleet Leisure Centre or 
such other leisure facilities situated within 5 miles of the Site.

Meopham Police Station (24,500) 0.00 0.00 (24,500)
Income received - Planning number is 20141214. We await a copy of the S106 
agreement to the Development of the Meopham Police Station.

Rosherville Property Development Ltd (285,270) 0.00 (155,230) (440,500)

£285,266 & £155,232 expected  NHS contributions toward Strategic Access 
Management & Monitoring Scheme &  towards the improvement of Lanscaping at 
St Andrews garden.

Total S106 Contributions (862,480) 0.00 (237,910) (1,100,390)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2021/22

P
age 30



6. TREASURY MANAGEMENT

6.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which sets out the principles and 
guidelines to be followed in borrowing and investment operations undertaken by Local 
Authorities.  On 23 February, Full Council approved the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2021-22, based on the Code.  The authority’s Annual Investment Strategy 
is incorporated in the TMSS and outlines the authority’s investment priorities as being:

 Security of Capital

 Liquidity

 Yield

6.2 An update on Treasury Management performance is provided to Members through 
budget monitoring reports, with more detailed reporting of treasury management activity 
to the Finance & Audit Committee every six months. A full list of internally managed 
investments held by the Council at 30 June 2021 can be found at Appendix Three of this 
report.

6.3 The Council currently pursues a variety of investment opportunities within its Treasury 
Management strategy which prior to Covid-19 were generating the following returns: 
a) Around £10m is invested in Externally Managed Property Funds generating returns 

in the region of 3-5% 
b) A further £10m is invested in three Multi-Asset funds generating returns of around 3-

4%.
c) Remaining cash balances are generally invested in short-term deposits and 

overnight money market funds currently generating returns of around 0.23%.
d) A total of £22.9m has been expended purchasing Investment Properties (including 

acquisitions and external professional support) from which initial yields have typically 
been upwards of 6%.

6.4 In 2020/21, despite the pandemic, Property Funds produced an income return of 4.15% 
overall and Money Market Funds produced an average dividend return of 3.40%. Return 
on internally managed investments for 2020/21 was 0.36% against a benchmark return 
of 0.11%.

6.5 Due to the current economic climate, investment returns have reduced but are being 
carefully monitored by Officers within Finance, who are in regular contract with the 
External Fund Managers.

6.6 The following summary of Key economic developments within this reporting period has 
been provided by Link Asset Services, the authority’s Treasury Management advisors.

6.7 The Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee voted unanimously to keep Bank Rate 
unchanged at 0.10%.  The Bank revised expectations for growth in Q2 of 2021 from 
4.25% to 5.5%.  The Bank of England expects a spike in inflation over the next six 
months but that this will be short lived. The Bank is also undertaking a review of its 
current policy to raise Bank Rate before unwinding quantative easing.  Money markets 
are currently expecting Bank Rate to start rising in mid-2022 but elsewhere there is an 

Page 31



18

expectation that only a minimal increase in Bank Rate is likely before 2023 or possibly 
no increases before 2024.

The background papers to this report are held within the Finance Section

Page 32



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 June 
against the original budget set for the 2021/22 financial year, and assess full year 
projections to 31 March 2022. It also illustrates how the projected position affects 
the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 33

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


20

Climate Change No direct impllications.

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 34



MTFP V2 - 06.08.2021 Appendix 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 12,266,490 12,201,170 11,940,870 12,049,470 12,290,490 12,536,300 12,787,040 13,042,830 13,303,680 13,569,760 13,913,400 

Vacancy allowance (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Salaries (Net) 11,916,490 11,851,170 11,590,870 11,699,470 11,940,490 12,186,300 12,437,040 12,692,830 12,953,680 13,219,760 13,563,400 

Temporary Staff 408,500 408,500 416,160 423,960 431,910 440,030 448,310 456,770 465,390 474,190 486,040 

Wages 160,130 160,130 104,410 246,490 108,620 110,790 113,000 255,250 117,550 119,910 122,910 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 3,184,500 3,165,730 3,140,670 3,165,870 3,229,190 3,293,850 3,359,730 3,426,860 3,495,420 3,565,300 3,655,620 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,058,460 1,058,010 1,058,300 1,059,180 1,060,080 1,061,000 1,061,930 1,062,890 1,063,860 1,063,860 1,063,860 

Running Expenses 15,027,670 15,290,150 10,767,790 10,888,700 10,895,300 10,987,020 11,113,110 11,311,340 11,490,280 11,625,940 11,713,060 

Capital Financing 870,550 766,440 1,727,480 (191,540) 1,787,120 1,933,200 2,373,230 2,340,800 2,309,050 2,309,050 2,309,050 

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (52,120) (52,120) 14,870 64,790 101,450 127,810 146,230 158,570 158,570 158,570 158,570 

Recharges to Other Accounts (3,295,930) (2,958,220) (2,982,100) (3,037,770) (3,109,250) (3,135,480) (3,190,260) (3,252,330) (3,210,660) (3,239,580) (3,251,600)

Other Government Grants (6,666,430) (6,704,340) (2,048,230) (2,061,440) (2,074,800) (2,088,280) (2,101,900) (2,115,650) (2,129,540) (2,143,580) (2,157,730)

Investment Income (772,000) (772,000) (802,000) (832,000) (862,000) (892,000) (922,000) (952,000) (982,000) (1,012,000) (1,042,000)

Fees & Charges (6,180,870) (6,355,110) (6,809,010) (6,857,720) (6,958,760) (6,922,010) (6,767,520) (6,800,640) (6,778,920) (6,846,910) (6,874,300)

Rental Income (4,529,350) (4,529,350) (4,623,140) (4,421,170) (4,572,750) (4,475,000) (4,723,330) (4,769,600) (4,815,000) (4,815,000) (4,858,340)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 1,724,980 1,724,980 807,000 692,000 757,000 642,000 600,000 757,000 212,000 132,000 132,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves (7,148,150) (7,304,360) (14,100) (63,440) 165,160 347,880 511,100 60,450 667,580 746,130 746,130 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 311,050 311,050 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 

Parish Precepts 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 403,160 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 6,420,640 6,463,820 13,102,130 11,528,540 13,651,920 14,370,270 15,211,830 15,385,700 15,770,420 16,110,800 16,519,830 

Business Rates Income (3,565,940) (3,565,940) (3,272,500) (3,305,230) (3,338,280) (3,371,660) (3,405,370) (3,439,430) (3,473,810) (3,508,550) (3,543,640)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

New Homes Bonus (311,050) (311,050) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Lower Tier Services Grant (126,260) (126,260) --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

Council Tax Income (7,333,580) (7,333,580) (7,525,110) (7,721,820) (7,923,410) (8,130,320) (8,342,620) (8,560,390) (8,784,060) (9,013,350) (9,248,720)

Parish Precepts (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160) (403,160)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund 5,221,080 5,221,080 184,870 184,870 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

98,270 98,270 (1,979,940) (176,910) (1,880,780) (2,358,840) (1,752,750) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

--   43,180 --   --   --   --   1,201,640 2,526,430 2,653,100 2,729,450 2,868,020 

--   --   --   --   --   --   1,201,640 1,324,790 126,670 76,350 138,570 

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £3.25m

Projected 

2028-29

Projected 

2027-28

Original 

2021-22

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2023-24

Projected 

2024-25

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Projected 

2021-22

Projected 

2029-30

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2026-27

Projected 

2030-31

P
age 35



MTFP V2 - 06.08.2021 Appendix 2

2021-22   

Original

2021-22   

Projected

2022-23    

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

2027-28      

Original

2028-29      

Original

2029-30      

Original

2030-31      

Original

9,283,080 9,283,080 9,649,220 8,019,280 8,192,370 6,661,590 4,652,750 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

New Homes Bonus 311,050 311,050 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF 98,270 98,270 (1,979,940) (176,910) (1,880,780) (2,358,840) (1,752,750) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 9,692,400 9,692,400 8,019,280 8,192,370 6,661,590 4,652,750 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget - (43,180) - - - - (1,201,640) (2,526,430) (2,653,100) (2,729,450) (2,868,020)

9,692,400 9,649,220 8,019,280 8,192,370 6,661,590 4,652,750 2,048,360 (478,070) (3,131,170) (5,860,620) (8,728,640)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Spend to Save Reserve (incl. Digital Team) - - - - - - - - - - -

Corporate Priorities Reserve 534,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840 434,840

Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,163,200 628,200 628,200 648,200 748,200 848,200 948,200 1,048,200 1,148,200 1,248,200 1,348,200

Planning Policy Reserve 464,490 432,890 437,290 461,690 511,690 561,690 611,690 661,690 711,690 761,690 811,690

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,657,410 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230 33,230

Decriminalisation (General) 228,460 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570 18,570

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 123,480 135,980 124,480 112,980 101,480 113,980 126,480 138,980 151,480 163,980 176,480

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme Reserve - - - - - - - - - - -

Elections Reserve 73,750 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000 127,000

IT Infrastructure Reserve 370,950 270,950 275,950 300,950 270,950 280,950 355,950 285,950 295,950 345,950 395,950

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960 473,960

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,223,060 1,444,410 1,265,760 1,087,110 908,460 861,000 858,000 706,840 928,190 1,149,540 1,370,890

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 5,075,100 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760 668,760

Growth Fund Reserve 374,910 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130 225,130

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000 140,000

Service Review Reserve 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000

Playgrounds Reserve 135,530 44,410 58,160 46,910 20,660 19,410 20,160 33,910 62,660 131,410 200,160

Woodville Repairs Reserve 239,820 297,070 354,320 411,570 468,820 526,070 583,320 640,570 697,820 755,070 812,320

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 1,146,620 1,132,340 1,146,410 1,116,120 1,138,850 1,124,190 1,161,440 1,168,380 1,175,190 1,175,190 1,175,190

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

St George's Centre Income Protection Reserve 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920 1,239,920

Housing & Commercial Growth Fund Reserve 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000

Climate Change Reserve 484,860 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620 456,620

Enterprise Zone Reserve 151,340 172,850 319,430 466,030 612,610 759,110 905,460 1,051,630 1,197,550 1,348,830 1,500,110

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 15,412,500 19,285,680 17,741,640 17,851,290 16,485,670 14,824,710 12,731,420 10,265,440 8,279,920 6,296,600 4,174,710

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,001

KEY ITEMS INCLUDED WITHIN THIS VERSION OF THE PLAN

Council Tax increases of 2% projected annually from 2021/22 onwards.  Council Tax Base incorporates forecast growth of 0.60% annually from 2021/22 onwards.

No general pay award budgeted for 2021-22 (except rise of at least £250 for those earning under £24k) - in line with Spending Review announcements.

Negative RSG removed for 2021-22 as per Spending Review. NHB Scheme payments updated for 2021-22 and flatlined thereafter pending the outcome of long term funding reforms.

General Fund minimum working balance set at £2m, with General Reserve balance set at £3.25m.

Borrowing/interest costs associated with the Charter Development (through Rosherville Limited) - the Council will incur these costs in the first 3-4 years of the scheme, with repayment expected in 2023/24.

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year               

P
age 36



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Broker Name Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 145 11/11/20 10/11/21 Wokingham Borough Council Tradition Maturity 0.2500% -5,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 146 18/12/20 20/09/21 Moray Council Tradition Maturity 0.1700% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 148 23/04/21 22/10/21 Goldman Sachs International Link Group Maturity 0.2450% -3,100,000.00

Fixed Total 0.2270% -11,100,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 180 days notice 143 09/10/20 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.5800% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Call - 180 days notice 144 30/10/20 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.5800% -4,000,000.00

Call - 180 days notice Total 0.5800% -7,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 95 days notice 132 02/08/19 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.4000% -1,000,000.00

Call - 95 days notice Total 0.4000% -1,000,000.00

11 Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF L1 14/11/19 Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class 
L-1

Maturity 0.0100% -2,804,000.00

Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF L-1 18/05/20 Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class 
L-1

Maturity 0.0100% -619,000.00

Deposit MMF Deutsche RR MMF 11/06/18 Deutsche Managed Sterling Advisory Maturity 0.0000% -23,023.00

Deposit MMF 6000Invesco RR MMF 11/06/18 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.0099% -7,172,703.30

MMF Total 0.0099% -10,618,726.30

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -2,709,436.10

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 3.8346% -1,901,830.27

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -525,230.30

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 2.8362% -5,129,552.20

Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity 22.0547% -1,885,739.45

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity 3.9165% -5,103,092.78

Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 Jupiter Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -2,548,527.33

VNAV Fund Total 4.2122% -19,803,408.42

Deposit Total 1.8275% -49,522,134.72

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -49,522,134.72

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

As At: 30/06/2021

Page 1 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 03/08/21 14:08

P
age 37



Page 2 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 03/08/21 14:08

P
age 38



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 7 September / 21 September 2021

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report  – 
Quarter One 2021/22

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2021/22, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2021/22 financial year for 
the first quarter to 30 June 2021 as well as updating Members on other key areas of 
financial performance. 

1.2. The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good financial 
governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition to the 
reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, these 
actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity which impacts on either budgetary provision or 
results in a permanent change to the staffing establishment to be considered and 
approved by Management Team.

Page 39 Agenda Item 8



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HRA (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of Quarter One, income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, albeit 
there remains an anticipated contribution from reserves to fund projected revenue 
expenditure for the year. At this stage of the year there are limited variances to report.  
The main variances within the forecast position compared to the original budget is an 
increase in the savings resulting from staff vacancies.  This saving is largely offset by an 
increase in the use of the HRA general reserve to finance the rolled forward capital 
budgets.

2.2. The potential impact of Covid-19 was taken into account when setting the 2021/22 HRA 
budget.  Therefore at this stage there are no additional variances to expenditure or 
income to report.  However, officers will continue to closely monitor the impact and 
highlight variances in the future at the earliest opportunity.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £3.0m, the minimum level 
of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are projected to result in a net 
decrease in the General HRA Reserves of £698k, with the level of reserves being £2.8m 
at start of year and projected to be £2.1m at year-end.

2.4. The significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the lack of clarity 
regarding funding and regulatory reform and any impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic 
beyond those considered at the time of budget setting.

Housing Capital

2.5. The revised budget for the Housing Capital Programme for the year is £24.0m, with 
expenditure and commitments to the end of Quarter One of £7.5m. Capital budgets 
totalling £2.9m have been carried forward to 2021/22, relating to the maintenance of the 
Council’s housing stock, the New Build programme and the provision of Disabled Facilities 
Grants.  The Council was awarded a grant via the Better Care Fund for Disabled Facility 
Grants that was £187k higher than assumed at the time of setting the budget in February 
2021.

Page 40



3

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

3.1. Budget 2021/22

3.1.1. The table below sets out the current forecast spend against the original budget for the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances to 30 June 2021.  As at 
30 June 2021 the forecast reflects a net favourable variance to original budget of £64k. 
The reduction in funds required will reduce the contribution needed from general reserves.

Description Original Budget 
2021/22 (£)

Forecast   
2021/22 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 5,996,680 5,862,020 (134,660)
Repairs and Maintenance 7,812,020 7,812,020 0
Depreciation 6,948,300 6,948,300 0
Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 589,080 589,080 0
Capital Finance 7,794,080 7,896,580 102,500
Sub Total Expenditure 29,140,160 29,108,000 (32,160)
Rents of Dwellings (26,273,300) (26,273,300) 0
Other Rental Income (14,700) (14,700) 0
Service Charges (1,782,900) (1,782,900) 0
Non Dwelling Income (140,000) (172,000) (32,000)
Intensive Management Fund - Income (521,680) (521,680) 0
Other Income (110,620) (110,620) 0
Sub Total Income (28,843,200) (28,875,200) (32,000)
Contributions to/(from) reserves (296,960) (232,800) (64,160)
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 1: Housing Revenue Account 2021/22

3.2. SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT –  £135k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.2.1. Vacancy Management: £135k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2021/21 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It is anticipated that this 
will occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within day-
to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending the re-design of services. 
For the first three months to 30 June 2021, actual staffing spend was £135k lower than 
budgeted.

3.2.2. Capita Housing System: nil variance - the current housing system, Capita, is being 
supported beyond the previously stated date.  The contract extension costs to-date have 
been absorbed within the current budget.

3.3. REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE - NIL VARIANCE

3.3.1. Repairs & Maintenance – nil variance – A nil variance is reported at this stage of the 
financial year, however, we are working closely with the Housing Team to monitor this 
position going forward.

3.4. DEPRECIATION - NIL VARIANCE

3.4.1. Depreciation – nil variance – there is no variance to report at this stage.

3.5. CAPITAL FINANCING - £103K ADVERSE VARIANCE

Page 41



4

3.5.1. Interest Cost Savings – £116k – favourable variance – due to the delays in the new 
build programme, there was a lower external borrowing requirement in 2020/21.  This has 
reduced the anticipated cost of borrowing in the current financial year, resulting in a 
favourable variance of £116k against the original budget.

3.5.2. Contribution to Capital Programme - £219k – adverse variance – due to the impact of 
Covid-19 and subsequent delays to the capital programme during 2020/21 there was a 
reduction in the level of spend during the last financial year and, as a consequence, the 
draw from the HRA General Reserve to finance the capital spend was not required.  
However, this year there is now an increase in the required draw from HRA General 
Reserve to finance an element of the capital carried forward budgets.  This has resulted in 
an adverse variance of £219k. 

3.6. RENTS ON DWELLINGS - NIL VARIANCE

3.6.1. Rents on Dwellings – nil variance – whilst there remains a possible impact on the rental 
income due to the impact of Covid-19, this was taken into account when setting the 
budget for 2021/22 and therefore at this stage of the year no further variance is reported.

3.7. NON DWELLING INCOME - £32k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.7.1. Commercial Rent - £32k favourable variance – a favourable variance is forecast due to 
the increased rental income received for the hire of space for telecommunications masts 
on HRA land and buildings not known at the time of setting the budget.

3.8. OTHER INCOME – NIL VARIANCE

3.8.1. Other Income – nil variance – as with rental income from dwellings there remains a 
possible impact of COVID-19 on commercial income.  Again this was factored in when 
setting the budget for 2021/22 and therefore at this stage of the year no further variance is 
reported.

3.9. WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES
3.9.1. The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 

balances: 

£
Balance Brought Forward from 2020/21 3,000,000
Forecast Outturn position 2021/22 (232,800)
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2021) including minimum 
HRA Working Balance 2,767,200

Add: Transfer from HRA General Reserve (Revenue) 232,800

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 30 June 2021) 3,000,000

Table 2: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

3.9.2. The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist with 
future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year. 

Page 42



5

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2021   
(£)

Contributions 
(Income)      

(£)

Use of Reserve 
(Expenditure) 

(£)

Balance 
31/03/2022   

(£)

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (2,763,470) 0 698,260 (2,065,210)

Total (2,763,470) 0 698,260 (2,065,210)

Table 3: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

4. HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1. The Housing Capital programme for 2021/22 is £23,978,630, of which £21,889,230 
relates to HRA capital schemes and £2,089,400 relates to non-HRA capital schemes.  
These budgets include £1,869,940 and £1,069,800, respectively that are carried forward 
from 2020/21.

4.2. The HRA capital schemes continue to focus on maintaining the minimum decent homes 
standard for the Council’s stock in 2021/22, with £7,666,620 earmarked for this purpose 
within the Replacement, Improvement, Health & Safety Works and Major Void Works 
Programmes.  A further £250,000 has been set aside to deal with the refurbishment of 
major void properties.  An additional £1,390,010 capital budgets has been agreed to 
provide the replacement Housing Computer System, Fire Doors and Replacement Play 
Equipment.  The council also continues its commitment to build new homes with 
£12,582,600 allocated for this purpose.

4.3. Good progress has been made during Quarter One with £7,464,260 being spent or 
committed against the capital schemes detailed above.  Officers will continue to monitor 
the impact of Covid-19 on the delivery of the capital programme.

Ref No: Project
 Original Budget 

2021-22 inc CFwd 
(£)

Expenditure 
Including 

Commitments 
(£)

Balance 
Outstanding 

(£)

A Replacement Programmes 3,910,190 1,753,530 (2,156,660)
B Improvement Programmes 1,771,480 489,770 (1,281,710)
C Health & Safety Works 1,984,950 1,191,960 (792,990)
D Major Void Works 250,000 90,040 (159,960)
E New Build & Acquisions 12,582,600 2,943,980 (9,638,620)
F Housing Computer Systems 345,080 347,050 1,970
G Replacement Play Equipment 127,500 0 (127,500)
H Bin Housing 49,470 0 (49,470)
I CCTV 56,960 0 (56,960)
J Fire Doors 811,000 0 (811,000)

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 21,889,230 6,816,330 (15,072,900)
K Renovation Grants (DFG) 2,089,400 647,930 (1,441,470)

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 23,978,630 7,464,260 (16,514,370)

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 4: Housing Capital Programme 2021/22

4.4. The following works were undertaken or completed by the end of Quarter One 2021/22:

4.4.1. Replacement Programmes (Ref A)

 Kitchens renewals: 28 completed
 Bathroom renewals: 12 completed

Page 43



6

 Windows and door renewals: 9 properties completed
 Roofing; 1 Block has had a roof renewal
 Electrical tests: 94 properties completed
 Electrical tests: 12 Blocks completed

4.4.2. Improvement Programmes (Ref B)

 Central heating systems/boilers installations:  180 completed
 Wet room installations: 25 completed
 Domestic stair lifts installations: 2 completed

4.4.3. Health & Safety Works (Ref C)

 Fire detection installs in general let properties: 104 completed
 Fire detection installs in sheltered properties: 152 completed
 Upgrades to door entry systems: 9 blocks
 Lift refurbishment: works commenced at Carl Ekman House

4.5. New Build (Ref E)

4.5.1. In 2012 the authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain an element of the 
Right To Buy (RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition 
of additional social housing.

4.5.2. From 1 April 2021, MHCLG has amended the rules around the use of RTB receipts, 
allowing Local Authorities to fund 40% of costs incurred in the delivery of additional 
housing units from the use of RTB receipts, which is an increase from the previous limit of 
30%.  This means that Local Authorities are now only required to fund the remaining 60% 
of costs.  MHCLG has also increased the requirement to spend RTB receipts from three to 
four years after they are generated.

4.5.3. The table below shows a summary of the new build properties that have been delivered 
since the original agreement was signed in 2012, as well as the number of additional 
properties, which are at various different stages of delivery within the current programme.

HRA Property Development Stage Number of 
Properties

Delivered and Completed 49
Under Construction 78
Planning Permission Granted 6
Feasibility/Concept Design 334
Total Number of HRA Properties 467

Table 5: New Build Delivery

4.5.4. The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter One:

 Whitehill and Nansen Road – 8 x 3 bed houses were completed at Nansen Road on 
17 March 2021 with 24 x 1 and 2 bed apartments due to complete at Whitehill Road on 
19 July 2021.  The introduction of a Local Lettings Plan prioritising existing GBC tenants 
will increase availability of homes for many more applicants on the Council’s housing 
register.

 St Patrick’s Gardens – work is continuing at pace on 23 x 1 and 2 bed apartments fronting 
Valley Drive.  Completion of the scheme, which includes improvements to existing 
parking, waste collection, landscaping and a new play area, is expected in November.

Page 44



7

 Valley Drive – work is also continuing at pace on Blocks A and B of this scheme.  Block B 
will provide 32 x 1 bed Wheelchair Accessible and Adaptable apartments for people over 
the age of 55 whilst Block A will provide 6x1b/2p; 4x2b/3p; 5x2b4p apartments and 
1x3b5p Wheelchair User apartment.   Block A is due to complete Spring 2022 with 
completion of Block B following on in the Summer of 2022. 

 Constable Road – a contractor has been appointed via the SEC to deliver a terrace of 6 x 
1 bed bungalows and 1 x 1 bed detached bungalow.  The contractor will commence on 
site w/c 21 July 2021 and will be keeping residents fully informed.  The terrace of 6 
bungalows are wheelchair accessible and adaptable on the ground floor with a flexible 
room in the roof space, to enable a carer or family member to stay over.  The homes are 
designed to encourage existing tenants who are under occupying to re-size to a home 
that better meets their needs, which in turn will free up larger family sized homes for 
waiting applicants.  The single bungalow will be a Wheelchair User dwelling.

 Armoury Drive - Planning permission for 4 x 2 bed apartments and 2 x 1 bed bungalows 
on the former St John’s Ambulance site in Armoury Drive was granted in December 2020.  
The scheme has been tendered via the Kent Business Portal and tenders will be 
evaluated by end July.  The two bungalows have been designed to be wheelchair 
accessible and adaptable on the ground floor with the flexible roof space as provided on 
the Constable Road scheme.

 St Columba’s Close – feasibility studies have been undertaken with the aim to deliver 
circa 50 new carbon neutral homes.  

 In 2020/21 the Council purchased 147 Wrotham Road.  The property, once renovated will 
provided interim housing to assist vulnerable residents within the borough.

4.5.5. Our partners continue to work hard to maintain business continuity and keep the council 
informed of any changes and advice from Government that could impact business plans. 
Following government guidance, increased labour on site has meant that work has 
progressed significantly despite the many challenges.  Our partners are providing regular 
updates and we have commenced attending site for project meetings. 

4.5.6. Despite the continuing impact from Covid-19, the council remains committed to increase 
the housing supply in the borough and continues to work with its stakeholders in the 
identification, design, and construction of good quality affordable homes.

4.5.7. To date, the total number of new Council homes completed, under construction or with 
planning permission is 133.  The Housing Development Team continue to work on a 
pipeline of potential development sites to increase the supply of social housing.  

4.5.8. The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred in 
2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2021, the RTB Allowable Debt reserve 
had a nil balance.  This was due to the proposal to use any balance from the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects, ahead of any other funding 
source, as this can either be used to repay debt or finance the capital programme. 

4.5.9. Table 6 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver the 
New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be delivered to 
avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

Page 45



8

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £
2012-17 c/f 6,905,580 16,113,020 23,018,600 23,018,620 31-Mar-22
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-22
Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-22
Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-22
Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-23
2018-19
Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-23
Q2 484,630 1,130,800 1,615,430 32,986,460 30-Sep-23
Q3 379,770 886,130 1,265,900 34,252,360 31-Dec-23
Q4 238,610 556,760 795,370 35,047,730 31-Mar-24
2019-20
Q1 383,470 894,760 1,278,230 36,325,960 30-Jun-24
Q2 1,382,090 3,224,880 4,606,970 40,932,930 30-Sep-24
Q3 544,030 1,269,400 1,813,430 42,746,360 31-Dec-24
Q4 559,730 1,306,040 1,865,770 44,612,130 31-Mar-25
2020-21
Q1 474,550 1,107,280 1,581,830 46,193,960 30-Jun-25
Q2 39,580 92,350 131,930 46,325,890 30-Sep-25
Q3 400,460 934,410 1,334,870 47,660,760 31-Dec-25
Q4 560,850 1,308,650 1,869,500 49,530,260 31-Mar-26

14,859,070 34,671,190 49,530,260

Table 6: New Build

4.7. Housing Computer System (Ref F)
4.7.1. Delivery and implementation of the Housing Computer System is being directly impacted 

by issues the supplier is having with their internal resourcing levels to deliver the required 
solution.  This had been escalated with supplier’s senior management and is subject to 
ongoing discussion.

4.7.2. User Acceptance Testing did take place during June and July but was rejected by the 
Council as it did not pass the Council’s acceptance criteria.  The Suppliers are resolving 
issues for a further round of User Acceptance Testing to take place.

4.7.3. The expected cost is currently within agreed budget tolerances and the Council will be 
seeking to pass any additional costs incurred onto the supplier.

4.8. Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

4.8.1. A 20-year replacement plan has been agreed and included within the Housing Asset 
Business Plan.  However, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, there has been a delay with the 
commencement of the works.  The improvements that were originally due to take place in 
2020/21 will now commence in 2021/22 following a review with the new Housing 
Management Team.

4.9. Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref K) 

4.9.1. The grant funding awarded to the Council in 2021/22, via the Better Care Fund, was 
£1.020m which was higher than the £833k that was forecasted when the budget was set 

Page 46



9

in February 2021.  The total funding available for use in 2021/22 is now £2.089m, which is 
inclusive of the £1.070m that was carry forward from 2020/21.

4.9.2. The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible 
for assistance within the wider remit of the Better Care Fund.

4.9.3. Challenges in relation to Covid-19 were overcome and considerable progress continued 
to be made in Quarter One of 2021/22, including dealing with the backlog of referrals and 
the completion of adaptations that were approved prior to lockdown.

4.9.4. A total of 102 cases have been processed, of which the breakdown is as follows:

 30 grant cases were approved

 15 households had works completed

 1 applications were cancelled due to changes in the client’s circumstances

 56 grant cases are awaiting approval
4.9.5. In Quarter One, the Council distributed £222k to private homeowners within the borough 

who qualify for Disabled Facility Grant assistance.  The Council has also committed a 
further £532k, which is considerably higher than any previous quarter.

4.9.6. Some 34 people have benefited from the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy, 21 
people have been assisted through hospital discharge into a safer home environment and 
a further 13 people have been assisted with energy measures.  Data from June hospital 
discharges is still awaited.

4.9.7. Work around hoarding cases continued, providing support and putting measures in place 
for patients waiting to be discharged to home.  The post of the coordinator is out for 
recruiting as the previous member of staff left.

4.9.8. The Council is receiving more complex cases where the health of our clients requires 
additional adaptations above and beyond the funding that is allowable under the 
Mandatory DFG.  The Council is looking to review its DFG policy to enable these cases to 
be processed.

4.10. Capital Resources
4.10.1. The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.  The use 

of funding takes into account schemes, which are expected to roll balances forward, as 
indicated in this report.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2021(£)

Forecast 
Income 

2021/22 (£)

Forecast Use of 
Funding 2021/22 

(£)

Forecast Final 
Balance 

31/03/2022 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (1,010,350) (259,490) 779,010 (490,830)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (135,380) 0 0 (135,380)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (85,380) (6,728,410) 6,813,790 0
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (69,700) 0 69,700 0
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (6,349,860) (3,078,660) 2,704,060 (6,724,460)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve 0 (714,840) 714,840 0
Disabled Facility Grants (1,203,630) (1,019,600) 2,089,400 (133,830)
Christianfields Overage 0 0 0 0
Meopham Police Station (s106) (24,500) 0 0 (24,500)
General Reserve (revenue) (2,763,470) 0 698,260 (2,065,210)
Total (15,215,270) (11,801,000) 13,869,060 (13,147,210)

Table 7: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2021/22

Page 47



10

4.10.2. Projected Capital Expenditure and funding requirements for the HRA can be found in the 
HRA Business Plan at Appendix two to this report.

4.11. HRA Business Planning

4.11.1. The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into account 
longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants and energy 
prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget resulting from 
Management Team and Cabinet decisions.

4.11.2. The HRA Business Plan reflects the current and future financial spend profiles identified in 
the recent Stock Condition Survey.  It also reflects future forecasts of the New Build 
Programme beyond the existing three year scheme based on the current assumption on 
the number of Council Houses sold per annum.

4.11.3. The latest version of the HRA Business Plans for capital and revenue are attached to this 
report at Appendices two and three.

4.11.4. The current version of the HRA Business Plan reflects the changes to the use of HRA 1-4-
4 Right to Buy receipts which were recently announced by MHCLG and came into effect 
on 1 April 2021 (para 4.5.2).  It also reflects the assumption that the number of properties 
sold under the Right to Buy scheme will continue to be affected by Covid-19 and that the 
Council will see a reduction of 20 properties a year as a result, a reduction from the 
previous assumption that 30 properties will be sold per annum.

4.11.5. Officers will continue to work on the Business Plan in the coming weeks and months to 
review and assess the impact of other base assumptions within the model.

Page 48



11

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 June 
against the original budget set for the 2021/22 financial year, and illustrate how this 
affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 49

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


12

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 50



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Original Budget 

inc C/Fwd Q1

HRA Capital Budget Monitoring 2021.22 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Capital Expendture

Capital Maintenance Expenditure

Planned Maintenance 0 0 3,677 3,948 4,054 4,139 4,226 4,315 4,407

Replacement Programmes

Kitchen 988 988 904 923 944 964 986 1,007 1,030

Bathroom 225 225 331 338 346 353 361 369 377

Doors & Windows 950 950 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Roofing Replacements 1,039 1,039 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Electrical Testing 709 709 519 530 542 554 566 578 591

Improvement Programmes

Heating Installations 1,050 1,050 1,089 1,113 1,138 1,163 1,188 1,214 1,241

Aids and Adaptations 522 522 519 530 542 554 566 578 591

Other Improvement Programme Schemes 200 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Health & Safety Works

Fire Precaution Works 1,023 1,023 311 318 325 332 340 347 355

Door Entry/Warden 125 125 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Asbestos Management 60 60 73 74 76 78 79 81 83

Communal 0 0 670 685 700 715 731 747 764

Other Health & Safety Works 777 777 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Major Voids 250 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Savings Required 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 7,917 7,917 8,092 8,460 8,665 8,852 9,042 9,238 9,438

Other Capital Expenditure

Housing Computer System 345 345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Play Equipment 128 128 24 24 0 0 0 0 0

Bin Housing 49 49 13 0 0 0 0 0 0

CCTV 57 57 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fire Doors 811 811 175 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 1,390 1,390 214 24 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure

Purchases from the Market 0 800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Whitehill Road 0 577 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Valley Drive 0 4,429 2,404 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Patricks Gardens 0 2,085 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Wilberforce Way 0 295 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rembrandt/Constable Drive 0 1,714 227 0 0 0 0 0 0

Armoury Drive 0 988 250 0 0 0 0 0 0

Barr Road 0 0 348 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build 12,583 1,695 5,833 9,761 10,262 10,827 11,443 12,084 12,750

New Build Expenditure Total 12,583 12,583 9,064 9,761 10,262 10,827 11,443 12,084 12,750

New Build Historic Adjustment

Total Capital Expenditure 21,889 21,889 17,370 18,244 18,928 19,678 20,486 21,322 22,188

Financing

MRR (7,812) (7,812) (7,332) (7,509) (7,691) (7,877) (8,068) (8,264) (8,700)

RTB - Allowable Debt (715) (715) (715) (715) (704) (652) (672) (692) (713)

RTB - LA Share 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - Transaction Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB Buyback Allowance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital receipts (779) (779) (259) (259) (259) (259) (259) (259) (851)

Gen Cap Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gen Cap Reserve 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA General Reserve/RCCO (715) (715) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA Reserve 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - 141 Receipts (2,704) (3,704) (2,904) (3,904) (4,105) (4,331) (4,577) (4,834) (5,100)

Capital Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

S106 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Returned to Capital Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Borrowing (9,164) (8,163) (6,159) (5,856) (6,168) (6,559) (6,909) (7,273) (6,824)

Total Financing (21,889) (21,889) (17,370) (18,244) (18,928) (19,678) (20,486) (21,322) (22,188)

Net Over/Under Financing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Original 

Budget Q1

HRA Budget Monitoring 2021.22 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Expenditure

Supervision and Management 5,997 5,862 6,614 6,749 6,871 6,994 7,120 7,248 7,379

Repairs and Maintenance 7,812 7,812 7,164 7,311 7,442 7,576 7,712 7,851 7,993

Depreciation 6,948 6,948 7,163 7,412 7,653 7,902 8,160 8,426 8,700

Intensive Housing Management - Expenditure 589 589 600 612 623 634 646 657 669

Capital Finance 7,544 7,181 8,899 9,102 9,796 10,096 10,440 10,782 11,128

RCCO 250 715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Savings Required 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 29,140 29,108 30,439 31,186 32,385 33,203 34,078 34,965 35,868

Income

Rents of Dwellings (26,273) (26,273) (27,490) (28,575) (29,664) (30,494) (31,345) (32,219) (33,114)

Other Rental Income (Phone masts etc) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15)

Service Charges (1,783) (1,783) (1,833) (1,890) (1,944) (1,999) (2,056) (2,114) (2,174)

Non Dwelling Income (Garages & Commercial) (140) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172) (172)

Intensive Housing Management  - Income (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522) (522)

Other Income (Interest, Ins Reimburse & CCentre) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111) (111)

Total Income (28,843) (28,875) (30,142) (31,284) (32,427) (33,312) (34,220) (35,152) (36,107)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (297) (233) (296) 98 42 109 142 187 239

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balances and Reserves

HRA Working Balances

B/fwd Balance 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

Variances per budget report (297) (233) (296) 98 42 109 142 187 239

Forecast Working Balances C/fwd 2,703 2,767 2,704 3,098 3,042 3,109 3,142 3,187 3,239

Movement (to)/from HRA General Reserve 297 233 296 (98) (42) (109) (142) (187) (239)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

HRA General Reserve

Opening Balance 2,763 2,763 2,065 1,769 1,867 1,909 2,018 2,160 2,347

Use to support revenue position (297) (233) (296) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Use in capital financing (497) (465) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Surplus on HRA revenue account 0 0 0 98 42 109 142 187 239

Forecast HRA General Reserve Balances C/fwd 1,970 2,065 1,769 1,867 1,909 2,018 2,160 2,347 2,586

Funding Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 07 September 2021

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby, Chief Executive and Michelle Batstone, 
Corporate Change Manager

Subject: LGA Peer Challenge - Follow-up report and updated action 
plan

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with a copy of Local Government Association’s (LGA) Corporate Peer 
Challenge follow-up report following their onsite visit and to present an updated Council 
action plan for approval.

Recommendations:
Cabinet Members are asked to:
1. Note the content of the LGA Peer Challenge follow-up report at appendix two.
2. Review the revised action plan at appendix three and, subject to any agreed 

amendments, approve the action plan for implementation.
3. Approve the process for publishing the report, reporting back and providing updates to 

the Cabinet as set out in section three.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019, the council welcomed a Peer Challenge Team onsite in order for 
them to undertake a Corporate Peer Challenge of the council.  The team were 
onsite for three days (between 15 October and 17 October) and undertook a 
number of interviews and focus groups with various officers, Members, residents 
and external partners of the organisation.

1.2 Following the review, the LGA Peer Challenge Team presented their findings and 
made a number of recommendations which were developed into an action plan for 
the council.  This was subsequently approved by the Cabinet at its meeting on 03 
February 2020.

Page 55 Agenda Item 9



2

1.3 In presenting the final report to the council, the LGA confirmed that the Peer 
Challenge process includes a follow-up review.  The purpose of the follow-up 
review is to assess the progress the Council has made against the areas of 
improvement and development identified by the Peer team.

1.4 As a result of the COVID pandemic, the LGA piloted ‘virtual follow-up reviews’ with 
Gravesham being one of the first authorities to take part in the virtual process.  
The follow-up review took place over one day, on 09 March 2021.

2. Findings from the Peer Challenge Follow-up Review

2.1 The Peer Challenge team have prepared a short report setting out their findings; 
the report is attached at appendix two.

2.2 The team reviewed progress against the actions resulting from the original review 
in October 2019, and recognised that good progress had been made on the 
majority of these, despite the council needing to respond to the COVID-19 
pandemic.

2.3 The team also recommended a number of follow-up actions as detailed below:
2.3.1 Must add the Local Plan, five-year land supply and Housing Delivery Test 

to the corporate risk register.
2.3.2 Urgently proceed with a Gateway Review of the Local Plan and with the 

development of the new Local Plan.
2.3.3 All members need to be briefed and understand the risks on the Local 

Plan, five-year land supply and Housing Delivery Test.
2.3.4 Create a Strategic Planning Forum.
2.3.5 Must roll out Office 365 and improve the phone system as soon as 

possible, communicating this to staff.
2.3.6 IT services and infrastructure must be added to the corporate risk register.
2.3.7 A new agile working policy is being developed, this needs to be done 

quickly and staff engaged in the process.

2.4 In addressing the findings from the review, the detailed action plan has been 
reviewed and updated and is attached at appendix three for Member review and 
approval.

3. Next Steps

3.1 Subject to Cabinet approval, the LGA Peer Challenge Report and action plan will 
be published on the council’s website to ensure it is publicly available (which is 
deemed best practice by the LGA).

3.2 It is proposed that a report will be brought back to Cabinet in March 2022 to 
provide an update to Members on progress against the revised action plan.

Page 56



3

4. Background Papers

4.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Cabinet – 03 February 2020 - LGA Peer Challenge Report and Action Plan

 Cabinet – 22 February 2021 - LGA Peer Challenge Action Plan Update and 
Follow-up Review

Page 57



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There is no legal requirement to undertake a Peer Challenge.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There may be a need for additional resources in order to complete specific actions 
resulting from the follow-up process and these will be addressed at the appropriate 
time as necessary.

Risk Assessment There are no risks associated with the Peer Challenge follow-up process.  The 
follow-up review will assess the progress the council has made in addressing the 
recommendations previously identified and provide additional support/suggestions 
as necessary.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes – the agreed action plan made specific reference to expanding the way in 
which the council promotes its job vacancies with a view to ensuring these are 
visible for all community groups within the borough

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The Peer Challenge was a review of the council in its entirety and as such, has the 
potential to impact on the delivery of all objectives as set out in the council’s 
Corporate Plan.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications resulting from this report.

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Page 58

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Digital and website 
implications

There are no specific digital and website implications resulting from the report.  The 
council will however, publish the findings from the follow-up review on its website.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council: 
Corporate Peer Challenge Remote 
Follow-up 

9th March 2021 

Feedback Report 

Appendix TwoPage 61



 
Page 2 of 8 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ   www.local.gov.uk   Telephone 020 7664 3000   Email info@local.gov.uk   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 
 

Contents 
Introduction ...................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Follow-up Review approach .................................................................................................................................. 3 

Follow-up Review team ........................................................................................................................................... 3 

Scope and focus ......................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Executive summary ..................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Progress on recommendations ........................................................................................................................... 6 

Recommended follow-up actions ...................................................................................................................... 7 

Next steps.......................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 
Page 3 of 8 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ   www.local.gov.uk   Telephone 020 7664 3000   Email info@local.gov.uk   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 
 

Introduction 
 
Gravesham Borough Council received an LGA Corporate Peer Challenge in October 
2019. The purpose of the Follow-Up Review in March 2021 was to help the Council 
take stock of progress made against the areas of improvement identified in October 
2019. This report provides a written summary of the key observations made by the 
peer team during the Follow-Up Review and recommends further actions.   
 
When the COVID-19 pandemic emerged and lockdown began in March 2020, the 
Local Government Association (LGA) suspended the physical delivery of all peer 
challenge and independent review work. To continue to support councils during this 
unprecedented period, the LGA rapidly refocused support and adopted a new 
remote approach. Therefore, this Corporate Peer Challenge Follow-up Review for 
Gravesham Borough Council was conducted remotely. 
 
The council’s response to COVID-19 and the pandemic will have impacted on its 
ability to deliver some of the recommendations in the original corporate peer 
challenge, this report should be read with this context in mind. 

Follow-up Review approach  
Peer challenges are improvement-focussed and tailored to meet individual council’s 
needs. They are designed to complement and add value to a council’s own 
performance and improvement focus.  
 
The peers used their experience and knowledge of local government to reflect on the 
information presented to them by people they met, things they saw and material that 
they read. The team provide feedback as critical friends, not as assessors, 
consultants, or inspectors.  
 
Peers reviewed a range of information to ensure we were familiar with the council, 
the challenges it is facing and its plans for the future 
 
The review team spent one day conducting interviews and focus groups during 
which they:   
 

• Spoke to more than 40 people including a range of council staff together with 
councillors and external stakeholders 

• Gathered information and views from 14 meetings 

• Read over 30 documents, reports and plans and reviewed relevant statistics 

Follow-up Review team 

• Chief Executive Peer: Neil Taylor, Chief Executive, Bassetlaw District 
Council 

• Member Peer: Michael Payne, Deputy Leader of Gedling District Council 

• Senior Officer Peer: Patsy Dell, Director Hertfordshire Growth 

• LGA Review Manager: Angela Kawa, LGA Programme Manager 

• LGA Support Officer: Rachel Stevens 

Page 63

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 
Page 4 of 8 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ   www.local.gov.uk   Telephone 020 7664 3000   Email info@local.gov.uk   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 
 

 

Three members of the Follow-up Review team were also part of the Corporate Peer 
Challenge team in October 2019: Neil Taylor, Cllr Michael Payne, and Angela Kawa. 

Scope and focus 

Gravesham Borough Council asked the review team to focus on progress against 
the key recommendations from the Corporate Peer Challenge 2019, which were: 
 

1. Embed regular Cabinet and Management Team joint working by creating 
time and space for discussion on strategy, expectations, and key issues. For 
example, more joint meetings and away days. 

2. Introduce a clear improvement plan for Planning, which is jointly 
developed and owned by Cabinet and Management Team, to establish clear 
targets and deadlines for improvement. This should include member training 
about their role in Planning, inviting in the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) 
and improving processes and procedures. 

3. Develop greater partnership working. Gravesham has been very self-
sufficient, but to tackle some of the bigger issues it needs to develop greater 
partnership working to deliver on key priorities such as housing. 

4. Seize on the cross-party consensus on the need for the Council to be 
pro-active in relation to housing delivery in Gravesham, including putting 
its argument strongly to government. 

5. Be a spokesperson for the area. The Council should put itself at the 
forefront of telling the story of Gravesham’s proud history, vibrant and varied 
heritage – creating a local ‘brand’ to unlock development opportunities and 
investments. 

6. Develop an induction programme for the new Chief Executive, which 
includes joint sessions delivered by the Leader and Chief Executive to 
cascade key information and expectations from the Corporate Plan to staff. 

7. Review council policy for flexible working arrangements and ensure 
consistency of implementation. A synchronisation of the policies with the 
investment in the equipment to make this happen. 

8. A more diverse workforce. The Council has a strong programme of 
engagement initiatives with its diverse community but there is a need for the 
Council to reflect that diversity within its workforce. 

9. Communicate success more effectively. Utilise expertise of the new 
Communications Team to develop a corporate approach to communications 
that enables the Council to sell its success to the public, partners, and staff 
more effectively. 

10. Review risk management. Risk management should be reviewed to include 
issues such as the property investment strategy and non-delivery of key 
developments. 

Executive summary 
 
At the time of the Corporate Peer Challenge in October 2019, the Chief Executive 
was about to stand down and a new Chief Executive appointed. Since the peer 
challenge in 2019 Stuart Bobby was appointed as the new Chief Executive and is 
now established in his role. The review team found that he is well-respected by 

Page 64

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 
Page 5 of 8 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ   www.local.gov.uk   Telephone 020 7664 3000   Email info@local.gov.uk   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 
 

council staff, members, and partners. The Leader of the Council is also well-
respected, and the Council is seen as a good partner. 
 
The review team spoke to frontline and senior staff at the Council and found that 
staff are proud to work at Gravesham and are committed to doing their best for local 
residents. The team found that the Council did good work throughout the pandemic. 
In interviews partners stated that on business grants the Council had delivered 
“nothing short of exceptional work.” 
 
Whilst working remotely Council staff have managed to maintain business as usual 
despite significant phone problems and outdated IT systems. The review team 
conducted focus groups with frontline staff and managers, and it was clear that the 
IT and phone problems had a significant impact on staff and their ability to do their 
jobs. It is to their credit that despite this, staff found ways to continue to deliver 
services by using personal mobile phones with their number withheld and by 
organising teams in the office to cover landlines which could not be diverted. Office 
365 and Teams has not been rolled out to staff which has made working remotely 
more difficult too. However, staff valued the flexibility that working remotely brings 
and were keen to see agile/flexible working continue after the pandemic ends. One 
staff member summed this up by stating: “trust your staff to get the job done and give 
them the resources to do it.”  
 
Remote and flexible working will be key to the recruitment and retention of staff and 
help to combat the lure of higher wages in London. The review team believe that the 
Council’s flexible/agile working policy needs to be developed and implemented 
swiftly and IT systems must be improved to facilitate this. This is also a matter of 
organisational resilience for the Council, as future crises may necessitate mass 
remote working again. 
 
Public sector organisations are increasingly being targeted by hackers and criminals 
with the National Cyber Security Centre issuing alerts following attacks on Hackney 
Council and threats to educational institutions. The PSN Code of Connection (CoCo) 
IT Health Check demonstrates that the Council takes cybersecurity seriously but if 
underinvestment in IT continues there will be an increased risk for the Council. 
 
The review team found that good progress has been made by the communications 
team on the issues identified in the Corporate Peer Challenge. There is still more 
work to be done but the communications team have a clear plan on how to tackle the 
remaining issues. 
 
The review team found that there have been improvements to the processing of 
planning applications, with good feedback from partners. The Cabinet Member is 
clearly respected and keen to build on the success. However, the improvement plan 
needs to be finalised and acted upon soon. The Council has not identified a five-year 
land supply and has missed its Housing Delivery Target and has therefore been 
subject to the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
 
Delays to the local plan under various administrations have left the Council in a 
difficult position, the local plan is now more than six years old. The Council must 

Page 65

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 
Page 6 of 8 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ   www.local.gov.uk   Telephone 020 7664 3000   Email info@local.gov.uk   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 
 

proceed with the new local plan urgently or expect further Government intervention. 
A new local plan is a key component of Gravesham’s vision for the local place. 

Progress on recommendations 
 
Embed regular cabinet and Management Team joint working: some steps 
forward with regular meetings being held with Cabinet Members and senior officers. 
Now that the emergency response phase to COVID-19 is beginning to end, joint 
meetings would provide a strategic space for Cabinet and Senior Officers to consider 
the Local Plan and other key issues. 
 
Introduce a clear improvement plan for Planning: Some progress has been 
made, there have been improvements in the processing of applications. But more 
needs to be done on the improvement plan. The Local Plan, Housing Delivery Test 
and five-year land supply must be on the corporate risk register. If the situation 
continues there are substantial risks which could throw the Council’s ambitious plans 
for regeneration off track, damaging the Council’s reputation with Government, 
investors, and developers. The review team urge the Council to be more strategic 
and deal with the issue now and make it everybody’s responsibility in the Senior 
Management Team and Cabinet. 
 
Develop greater partnership working: there was positive feedback from all the 
partners the review team spoke to. Partners spoke very highly of the Council and 
said the Council understands the local community. However, partners did not know 
the Council's strategic priorities and long-term plans. Now relationships have been 
deepened, we encourage the Council to focus engagement with partners on key 
corporate priorities. 
 
Seize on the cross-party consensus on the need for the Council to be pro-
active in relation to housing delivery in Gravesham: The review team believe 
that the Council could include a broader group of members in the discussions on the 
local plan. The review team suggests that the Council consider creating a strategic 
planning forum with the Leader, Cabinet Member, Opposition Leader and Chief 
Executive.  
 
Be a spokesperson for the area: Good progress on this recommendation. Partners 
view the Council as an advocate for North Kent, and say the Council speaks up for 
their area. However, partners believe you could be more confident in your 
arguments. The review team suggests that the Council could build on the work being 
done on history, culture, and tourism in the local area to boost the economy during 
the recovery period. 
 
Develop an induction programme for the new Chief Executive: the review team 
found that the induction of the new Chief Executive went well. The new Chief 
Executive has quickly established himself in the role and is respected by partners, 
officers, and senior Councillors. 
 
Review council policy for flexible working arrangements and ensure 
consistency of implementation: The review team are of the view that this need to 
be improved urgently. Staff and members do not feel supported to do their roles. 

Page 66

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 
Page 7 of 8 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ   www.local.gov.uk   Telephone 020 7664 3000   Email info@local.gov.uk   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 
 

Some members had no access to email for months during the initial phase of the 
pandemic, staff had to use personal mobiles to contact members of the public due to 
the IT and phone issues working from home. This is an organisation resilience 
problem and creates issues for recruitment and retention of staff. Getting this right 
can combat the lure of London wages. 
 
A more diverse workforce: The review team found there was some good work 
being done on the Armed Forces Covenant and apprenticeships. Gravesham is one 
of the most diverse areas in Kent but that is not reflected in the organisation. HR are 
pushing for more data on the workforce, they need corporate support on this and on 
the recruitment and retention of diverse staff.  
 
Communicate success more effectively: The review team found that the 
communications team is respected and making good progress communicating 
success to partners and the public. A forward plan is in place and recruitment of 
more staff is due shortly. The LGA communications Review found that the 
communications strategy can be strengthened by adding measurable outcomes, we 
echo that recommendation. The regular emails and SMS from the Chief Executive 
were praised by staff. Internal communications could be strengthened further by 
closer working with HR and IT. There could also be a clearer feedback loop so that 
information from the frontline reaches the senior management. 
 
Review risk management: The issues the original peer challenge team raised have 
been added to the corporate risk register. The review team have considered the 
information supplied by the Council and has found that thus far the Council’s 
investments have not been too adversely affected. The Local Plan, Housing Delivery 
Test and five-year land supply must be added to the corporate risk register. The IT 
and phone issues that occurred during the pandemic have not been fully resolved 
and Office 365 has still not been rolled out. Consequently, IT services and 
infrastructure must be added to the corporate risk register, particularly given the 
recent cyberattacks against councils. 

Recommended follow-up actions 
 
The review team recommend the following actions are undertaken by the Council (it 
should be noted that it is up to the Council’s Leadership to decide how to respond to 
the recommendations and implement any changes): 
 

1. Must add the Local Plan, five-year land supply and Housing Delivery Test to 
the corporate risk register 

2. Urgently proceed with a Gateway Review of the Local Plan and with the 
development of the new Local Plan 

3. All members need to be briefed and understand the risks on the Local Plan, 
five-year land supply and Housing Delivery Test.  

4. Create a Strategic Planning Forum 
5. Must roll out Office 365 and improve the phone system as soon as possible, 

communicating this to staff 
6. IT services and infrastructure must be added to the corporate risk register 
7. A new agile working policy is being developed, this needs to be done quickly 

and staff engaged in the process. 

Page 67

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 
Page 8 of 8 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ   www.local.gov.uk   Telephone 020 7664 3000   Email info@local.gov.uk   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 
 

Next steps 
 
The LGA would like to thank Gravesham Borough Council for undertaking the 
Follow-up Review, particularly as this was the first Corporate Peer Challenge Follow-
up Review to be conducted remotely. The review team appreciate that senior officers 
and political leaders will want to reflect on the findings within this report to determine 
how the Council wishes to take things forward.  
 
The review team have identified recommended actions. We suggest that the 
Council’s response to these recommendations includes the development of an action 
plan which is sent to stakeholders and published on the council’s website. We would 
be happy to provide a follow-up visit to examine the council’s progress. 
 
Under the umbrella of LGA sector-led improvement, there is an on-going offer of 
support to councils. The LGA is well placed to provide additional support, advice, 
and guidance for development and improvement.  
 
Will Brooks (Principal Adviser) is the main point of contact between the authority and 
the Local Government Association (LGA). His e-mail address is: 
william.brooks@local.gov.uk 
 

Page 68

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:william.brooks@local.gov.uk


A
ppendix Three

LGA Peer Challenge – Follow-up Review
- Revised Action Plan

The Local Government Association undertook a follow up review in March 2021 to review the way in which the council has implemented the 
recommendations from the previous review in October 2019 and to also identify any additional actions/support that may be required.

The table below provides an update from the Peer Challenge Team against each of the recommendations made as part of the initial review in 
October 2019, and provides details of further actions that have been identified as part of the follow-up review.

RECOMMENDATION 1
Embed regular Cabinet and Management Team joint working by creating time and space for discussion on strategy, expectations and key 
issues. For example, more joint meetings and away days

Update from the Peer Challenge Team:
The Peer Challenge Team recognised that significant improvements had been made in this area;
- Regular meetings are held with the Leader and the Chief Executive and Directors and portfolio meetings are also held between the Cabinet 

portfolio holders and the Directors. 
- The Corporate Delivery Plan was drawn up at the start of the financial year which forms the backbone for the 1-2-1 meetings between the 

Chief Executive and the Directors.
The Peer Challenge Team recognised that implementation of the Away days, originally planned for implementation in April 2020, has been 
delayed due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  However, with the passing of the pandemic, they strongly encouraged the council to implement the 
Away days/joint meetings to collaboratively consider key strategic issues affecting the council.
Actions identified:

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe

1. Implement a calendar of away days to focus on corporate projects as a Leadership Team 
(six-monthly).
This action has been brought forward from the previous action plan.  It is intended to 
implement a programme of away days once the COVID restrictions have been fully lifted.

Chief Executive October 2021

P
age 69



RECOMMENDATION 2
Introduce a clear improvement plan for Planning, which is jointly developed and owned by Cabinet and Management Team, to establish 
clear targets and deadlines for improvement. This should include member training about their role in planning, inviting in the Planning Advisory 
Service (PAS) and improving processes and procedures

Update from the Peer Challenge Team:
The Peer Challenge Team recognised that some progress had been made in planning, especially in relation to the processing of applications.  
However, they felt it was important to ensure a clear improvement plan for Planning is in place which focuses not only on operational issues but 
strains issues for consideration.  This is something that should be considered as a corporate priority, involving the council’ Senior Management 
Team as well as the Lead Member.
Actions identified:

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe

2. Develop a service improvement plan as part of the internal business process review 
process and include provisions for subsequent monitoring and review.
This action has been brought forward from the previous action plan.  This was however 
further emphasised in the follow-up review with the need to ensure that this is seen as a 
strategic priority, ensuring both senior management and the Cabinet have responsibility for 
the overall improvement plan

Director (Environment) December 2021

3. Proceed with a Gateway Review of the Local Plan as a matter of urgency, and ensure 
completion of the Local Plan.
This is a new action identified through the follow-up review process

Director (Environment) Completed for 
Gateway Review
Local Plan 
production is 
ongoing

P
age 70



RECOMMENDATION 3
Develop greater partnership working. Gravesham has been very self-sufficient, but to tackle some of the bigger issues it needs to develop 
greater partnership working to deliver on key priorities such as housing.

Update from the Peer Challenge Team:
This was recognised as a clear strength from the council in the follow-up review.  The Peer Challenge Team held a focus group with a number of 
key partners and confirmed that the feedback from partners was very positive.  Partners spoke very highly of the council and the way in which 
the council has a clear understanding of its community and their needs.  
The Peer Challenge Team felt that it would be beneficial to build upon these relationships further, by expressing the council’s long-term strategic 
priorities with partners and engaging them even further in support of these ambitions. 
Actions identified:

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe

4. Ensure a dedicated grants/bidding resource is in place to assist the progression of projects, 
both internally and with partners, in terms of sourcing grant-funding opportunities.
This action has been brought forward from the previous action plan.  Work is underway to 
recruit to this post with the aim of having an officers in post by Summer 2021 to enable pro-
active engagement with partners in respect of funding opportunities for the borough.

Chief Executive August 2021

5. Implement an approach to ensure partners are fully aware of the council’s strategic 
priorities and long-term plans, and ensure they are fully engaged in the delivery of council 
priorities wherever possible.
Whilst not a specific recommendation within the follow-um report, it was felt that this was 
an area for further development by the council and as such, a new action has been 
included within the action plan.

Chief Executive December 2021

P
age 71



RECOMMENDATION 4
Seize on the cross-party consensus on the need for the Council to be pro-active in relation to housing delivery in Gravesham, including 
putting its argument strongly to government

Update from the Peer Challenge Team:
It was recognised that action had been taken to engage pro-actively in relation to housing delivery cross the council but the Peer Challenge team 
felt that more could be done in this area, to engage a broader range of Members in discussions, particularly around the Local Plan.  The team 
felt that consideration should be given to the formation of a Strategic Planning Forum.
Actions identified:

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe

6. Improved liaison with the Kent and Medway Economic Partnership (KMEP), and the South 
East Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) to ensure a stronger focus on Gravesham and the 
growth areas within Kent. 
This action has been brought forward from the previous action plan.  A piece of work is 
underway to set the economic context of Gravesham relative to the South East Local 
Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) and the Kent and Medway Economic Partnership (KEMP).  
It is considered that this piece of work will set the foundations for Gravesham and the 
ability to leverage greater funding and support for Gravesham from relevant associations.

Chief Executive 
Director (Environment) 

December 2021
Economic Growth 
Strategy in place 
June 2020 and 
makes this point.
Making the Case 
work underway – 
December 2021

7. Liaison with the Kent Developers Group to forge stronger relationships with developers 
across the county by hosting a Group session and engaging with the private sector.
This action has been brought forward from the previous action plan.  Plans to present to 
Members of the Kent Developer’s Group had to be postponed due to the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

Director (Environment) December 2021 
(TBC)

8. Consideration to be given the implementation of a Strategic Planning Forum to involve the 
Leader, Cabinet Member, Opposition Leader and Chief Executive to enable wider 
discussions on specific issues as required.
This is a new action identified through the follow-up review process

Director (Environment) September 2021

P
age 72



Action Responsible Officer Timeframe

9. Ensure all Members are briefed and understand the risks associated with the Local Plan, 
five-year land supply and Housing Delivery test.  Updates should be provided on a regular 
basis.
This is a new action identified through the follow-up review process

Director (Environment) Ongoing

RECOMMENDATION 5
Be a spokesperson for the area. The Council should put itself at the forefront of telling the story of Gravesham’s proud history, vibrant and 
varied heritage – creating a local ‘brand’ to unlock development opportunities and investments.

Update from the Peer Challenge Team:
The Peer Challenge Team reflected that good progress had been made in this area since the original review in October 2019 and advised that 
partners see Gravesham Borough Council as advocates for the North Kent area and as central to coalitions across the area.  It was felt that the 
council is vocal in speaking up for the area and representing Gravesham at both a local and national level and this is something to be continued 
for the future, building on the work in areas such as culture, tourism and history.
Actions identified:

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe

10. Develop closer link between the Economic Development Team and the council’s 
Communications Team to ensure a ‘brand’ for Gravesham is developed.
This action has been brought forward from the previous action plan.  Work is underway in 
order to establish a ‘brand’ for Gravesham and the Communications Team have been 
working with the Economic Development Team to develop a detailed communications plan, 
including actions to promote the borough over the forthcoming 12 months.

Director (Communities) December 2022

P
age 73



Action Responsible Officer Timeframe

11. Build upon the work that is already being done in the areas of history, culture and tourism 
in the local area to boost the economy during the recovery period by ensuring this is 
communicated widely.
Whilst not a specific recommendation within the follow-up report, it was felt that this was an 
area for further development by the council and as such, a new action has been included 
within the action plan.

The Communications team is working with communities’ colleagues to publicise 
developments such as the St George’s Arts Hub, Estuary 2021, Fringe, etc and publicising 
relevant strategies.

Director (Communities) Tourism & 
Heritage Strategy 
approved February 
2021

RECOMMENDATION 6
Develop an induction programme for the new Chief Executive, which includes joint sessions delivered by the Leader and Chief Executive to 
cascade key information and expectations from the Corporate Plan to staff

Update from the Peer Challenge Team:
The team felt that the induction for the new Chief Executive went well and he has firmly and quickly established himself in this role.  The Chief 
Executive is respected by partners, officers and Members of the Council and has as such, no further actions are required in his area.

P
age 74



RECOMMENDATION 7
Review council policy for flexible working arrangements and ensure consistency of implementation. A synchronisation of the policies with 
the investment in the equipment to make this happen.  

Update from the Peer Challenge Team:
At the time of the initial review on October 2019, it was felt that the council’s approach to flexible working needed some improvement, but was 
not a significant issue.  However, given the focus on flexible and remote working brought about by the pandemic, this has now become a 
significant area of work for the council   Whilst some work has been undertaken in this area, there is still a significant amount of work for the 
council to address issues with flexible working.  There is a feeling amongst officers that the IT infrastructure to support them in working more 
flexibly is not in place.  There is a need for this to be resolved as a matter of urgency as it could create resilience issues for the council, 
particularly given the proximity to London and the move towards homeworking across all service areas. 
Actions identified:

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe

12. Develop a consistent, corporate approach to flexible working for the council as a whole in 
line with the action plan that has been developed in response to the council’s IiP 
assessment, ensuring this is communicated to all staff.  A new agile working policy is 
required, with staff engaged in the development of the policy.
This action has been brought forward from the previous action plan, although this was 
further emphasised in the follow-up review.  A new Agile working policy has been 
developed and a pilot will commence with effect from 1st October 2021 to the end of March 
2022.  In the meantime Covid-19 arrangements will remain in the office whilst the infection 
rate remains high in the borough.

Director (Communities) October 2021 – 
March 2022

13. Undertake a review of current office space requirements in order to determine if there is the 
potential for reducing the number of desks required and develop a more ‘hot desking’ 
approach for the workplace.
This action has been brought forward from the previous action plan. Upon completion of 
the Agile Working pilot, these proposals will be progressed further and plans for the new 
Civic Building will embrace the new flexible working arrangements that the council will have 
as an employer going forward.

Director (Communities) April 2022 onwards

P
age 75



Action Responsible Officer Timeframe

14. Ensure that M365 is rolled out across the council (officers and Members) as a priority, and 
improve the council’s telephony system to support agile working ensuring this is 
communicated to staff.
This is a new action identified through the follow-up review process.  Implementation of 
Microsoft 365 across the origination and the introduction of a new telephony system have 
commenced.

Director (Corporate 
Services)
Assistant Director (IT 
and Transformation)

Telephony System 
– September 2021
Microsoft 365 – 
October 2021

P
age 76



RECOMMENDATION 8
A more diverse workforce. The Council has a strong programme of engagement initiatives with its diverse community but there is a need for 
the Council to reflect that diversity within its workforce

Update from the Peer Challenge Team:
The Peer Challenge Team recognised the good work that has taken place to date in relation to the Armed Forces Covenant that is in place and 
the apprenticeships that the council offers.  There is a feeling however that given the diversity of the borough as a whole, this is not reflected 
across the council in its workforce.  There is a need for a corporate approach to the collation of workforce diversity information and the retention 
and recruitment of diverse officers.
Actions identified:

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe

15. Explore the potential for introducing a jobs/career fair to the borough to not only open up 
the employment market across the borough but also the council’s specific requirements to 
the community.
This action has been brought forward from the previous action plan.  Due to the pandemic, 
a jobs/career fair has not been progressed and instead the council is exploring other ways 
to give young people future job opportunities.

Director (Communities) Economic Growth 
Strategy agreed 
June 2020 and 
actions being 
undertaken to link 
local people with 
job opportunities.

16. Review of person specification, apprenticeships and work experience opportunities to 
ensure they are as inclusive as possible.
This action has been brought forward from the previous action plan.  A piece of work is 
currently underway to improve and reinvigorate the council’s apprenticeship and work 
experience offering. A new Kickstart/Apprentice co-Co-ordinator will start with effect from 
August 2021 and will assist with this going forward.

Director (Communities) Kickstart 
placements 
September 2021

P
age 77



Action Responsible Officer Timeframe

17. Ensure a corporate approach to ensuring a diverse workforce both through recruitment and 
retention processes but also ensuring accurate and up-to-date information on the 
workforce is held by HR.
Whilst not a specific recommendation within the follow-up report, it was felt that this was an 
area for further development by the council and as such, a new action has been included 
within the action plan. The new GBC HR team will look to improve the information that we 
currently have in place and this work will be a high priority going forward.

Director (Communities) December 2021

P
age 78



RECOMMENDATION 9
Communicate success more effectively. Utilise expertise of new Communications Team to develop a corporate approach to communications 
that enables the Council to sell its success to the public, partners and staff more effectively

Update from the Peer Challenge Team:
Good progress has been made in this area with the introduction of the Communications Strategy and the council undertaking a specific LGA 
review into the Communications approach of the council.  The strategy itself could be further strengthened with measureable outcomes in order 
to measure success more effectively.
The introduction of weekly updates from the Chief Executive sent by both e-mail and text message, to all council officers has been very well 
received across the council, but there is a need to build on this success and further improve internal communications, ensuring feedback from 
the frontline is fed in to senior management team on a more regular basis.
Actions identified:

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe

18. Explore the inclusion of measurable outcomes as part of the new Communications 
Strategy, including regular reporting on the KPIs.
Whilst not a specific recommendation within the follow-up report, it was felt that this was an 
area for further development by the council and as such, a new action has been included 
within the action plan.

There is a commitment to the evaluation of campaigns included in Communications 
Strategy and these being implemented

Communications 
Manager

Ongoing

19. Implement a process to enable a clear feedback loop so that information from the frontline 
reaches seniors management in a timely manner. 
Whilst not a specific recommendation within the follow-up report, it was felt that this was an 
area for further development by the council and as such, a new action has been included 
within the action plan.  Working with colleagues in digital and HR, the Communications 
Manager is undertaking a review of the council’s internal communications. This action point 
will be incorporated as part of that review

Communications 
Manager

Spring 2022

P
age 79



RECOMMENDATION 10
Review risk management. Risk management should be reviewed to include issues such as property investment strategy and non-delivery of 
key developments.

Update from the Peer Challenge Team:
The concerns that were previously raised by the Peer Challenge team have been rectified by the council.  The review found that there may be a 
need to consider additional risks for inclusion in the risk register around areas such as the Local Plan and Housing Delivery and IT Infrastructure.
Additional Actions identified:

Action Responsible Officer Timeframe

20. Engage with Zurich Municipal to review the council’s overall approach to risk management 
and implement any recommendations as required.
This action has been brought forward from the previous action plan.  The 
recommendations relating to Service Risk Registers will be implemented as part of the 
Departmental Business Planning process for 2022/23.  Following completion of the draft 
business plans, it is intended to introduced a new method of ‘peer review’ of plans and 
service risks at a Corporate Management Team level.

Corporate Performance 
Manager
Wider Management 
Team

February 2022

21. Consideration to be given to updating the Corporate Risk Register to include risks in 
relation to the Local Plan, five-year land supply, Housing Delivery Test and IT Services and 
infrastructure.
This is a new action identified through the follow-up review process

Director (Corporate 
Services)

November 2021

P
age 80



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 7 September 2021

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby - Chief Executive

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter One 2021-22 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present the Members of Cabinet with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter One 2021-22 (April  
to June 2021).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 81 Agenda Item 10



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Cabinet with a statistical overview of the 
council’s performance against the Corporate Plan for Quarter One 2021-22, 
covering the period April to June 2021. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle to Cabinet and relevant Cabinet Committees. 

2.4 Following Cabinet’s review, all Cabinet Committees will be presented with 
individual performance reports tailored to the respective portfolio responsibilities. 
Alongside statistical content, these will provide more detailed contextual or 
qualitative updates outlining what activity the council has delivered, and what is to 
be taken, to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s corporate objectives and 
policy commitments.   

2.5 This report is for information purposes only.

3. Executive performance: summary

3.1 Appendix Two provides a summary of corporate performance outturns in the last 
reporting quarter, with the following key statistical headlines:

 51.2% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance;

 48.8% of reported indicators have fallen in their level of performance.

3.2 Specifically in consideration of the adopted corporate objectives, the following 
headlines can be presented for the last reporting quarter:

 People: 52.2% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance;

 Place: 50% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance;

 Progress: 50% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance.

4. Background papers

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Page 82

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initiatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 83

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 84



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

C A B I N E T
Performance   report 
Q  1  :  2  0  2  1  -  2  2

P
age 85



Q 1   P E R F O R M A N C E   S U M M A R Y 

62.1% 57.5%
52.2%

57.1%
44.7% 50.0%

64.7% 65.5%

20%

40%

60%

80%

2019-20 2020-21 Q1
2021-22

Corporate Objective: % PIs maintained or improved performance

People
Place
Progress

61.0%
55.2%

51.2%

20%

40%

60%

80%

2019-20 2020-21 Q1
2021-22

Overall Performance: % PIs Maintained of Improved Performance

P
age 86



1 - 3

4 

5 - 8

9 - 12

13 - 16

17 - 19

20 - 21

Cllr L. Croxton 

Performance & Administration:
Cllr N. Thandi

Housing Services:
Cllr J. Wallace 

Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

Strategic Environment: 
Cllr L. Sullivan

Operational Services:

P O R T F O L I O   I N D E X 

Leader's Portfolio:
Cllr J. Burden 

Commercial Services:
Cllr L. Rolles 

Community & Leisure:

P
age 87



P I  6 Total CO2 emissions in the borough (kt)     (refers two years previous) P I  25 % satisfaction with Customer Services (Reception)

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 470.0 2019-20 N/A 82.2% 82.5% 81.1%

2020-21 466.4 2020-21 N/A N/A N/A N/A

2021-22 457.0 2021-22 N/A

2022-23 2022-23

P I  7 Total CO2 emissions from council assets (kt)       (refers to previous year) P I  27 % of council car parks awarded Park Mark status

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 2.5 2019-20 44% 89% 89% 100%

2020-21 1.7 2020-21 100% 100% 100% 100%

2021-22 2021-22 100%

2022-23 2022-23

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible to all. 

A sound car parking offer: support the local living environment with suitable and competitive parking 
provision, maintained by an effective enforcement regime.

Leader's Portfolio:
Cllr J. Burden 

Annual indicator 

Carbon neutral borough: in declaring a climate emergency, begin to take action to prepare 
Gravesham to become carbon neutral by 2030.

Annual indicator

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

1

2

3

2019-20 2020-21

425

450

475

500

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22
70%

80%

90%

100%

Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

Page 1 of 21

P
age 88



P I  48 % of income from commercial activity in relation to net revenue spend P I  51 Total number of online self-help forms completed

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 18.6% 2019-20 71,366 43,668 55,070 62,198

2020-21 19.6% 2020-21 88,787 49,501 59,938 61,029

2021-22 2021-22 93,159

2022-23 2022-23

P I  52 % of workforce IT-enabled for remote working

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 63.7%

2020-21 100%

2021-22

2022-23

A financially innovative council: design a suite of initiatives to achieve genuine financial independence 
and generate the income required for our enhanced frontline offer.

Leader's Portfolio:
Cllr J. Burden 

Annual indicator

Annual indicator

#3 PROGRESS
an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.
Digital innovation: provide the platforms for intelligent customer insight and a quality digital 
experience, and the IT solutions to transform services, delivering a dynamic working environment.

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

5%

10%

15%

20%

2019-20 2020-21

40%

60%

80%

100%

2019-20 2020-21
Page 2 of 21

P
age 89



P I  53 % gender pay gap across council staff                               (refers to previous year) P I  57 % meeting attendance rate of councillors

Q4 2019-20 Q4 2020-21 Q4 2021-22 Q4 2022-23 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

a) Mean 6.1% 5.6% 2019-20 90% 82% 87% 88%

b) Median -0.6% 1.4% 2020-21 96% 91% 96% 88%

2021-22 94%

2022-23

P I  54 % of apprentices securing employment by end of apprenticeship 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 72.7%

2020-21 76.9%

2021-22

2022-23

An employer of choice: advance the council’s Investors in People standard through excellent working 
practices and conditions, delivering a high performing, engaged, and celebrated workforce.  

Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of compliance with all policy, constitutional 
and legislative demands.

Annual indicator

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

Leader's Portfolio:
Cllr J. Burden 

#3 PROGRESS

70%

80%

90%

100%

2019-20 2020-21

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22-5%

0%

5%

10%

Q4 2019-20 Q4 2020-21

a) Mean b) Median

Page 3 of 21

P
age 90



P I  45 P I  47 Total amount secured through contractual social value

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 £1,504,720 2019-20 £10,000 £0 £32,686 £5,500

2020-21 £1,652,000 2020-21 £12,186 £0 £15,533 £5,577

2021-22 2021-22 £0

2022-23 2022-23

P I  46 Average yield generated by property investment activity

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 6.5%

2020-21 7.2%

2021-22

2022-23

Commercial Services: 

Total rental income from property investments

Develop an entrepreneurial culture: deliver on commercial opportunities to generate income and 
provide a social impact.

Cllr L. Rolles 

Annual indicator

#3 PROGRESS
an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

Annual indicator

£0

£15,000

£30,000

£45,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

£500,000

£1,000,000

£1,500,000

£2,000,000

2019-20 2020-21

0%

5%

10%

15%

2019-20 2020-21

Page 4 of 21

P
age 91



P I  1 Total number of reported crime offences P I  13 Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 3,143 3,225 3,211 3,245 2019-20 17 16 28 19

2020-21 2,670 3,056 2,806 2,471 2020-21 0 7 44 79

2021-22 2,888 2021-22 100

2022-23 2022-23

P I  2 Total number of reported incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 636 774 556 685

2020-21 1,295 1,098 874 982

2021-22 811

2022-23

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

Actively enforce environmental standards: use available powers to pursue anyone committing 
environmental crime or damaging the local environment. 

Create stronger neighbourhoods: work with Kent Police on the prevention, detection and reduction of 
crime and anti-social behaviour, and the safeguarding of local residents.

Community & Leisure: 
Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

#1 PEOPLE 

0

40

80

120

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

500

1,000

1,500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

Page 5 of 21

P
age 92



P I  37

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 219,508 207,957 194,043 204,620 2019-20 974 595 1,011 515

2020-21 N/A 41,278 39,391 2,901 2020-21 353 417 414 386

2021-22 74,247 2021-22 384

2022-23 2022-23

P I  38 Total number of ‘Active Gravesham’ attendees

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 7,318

2020-21 551

2021-22

2022-23

#2 PLACE 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local 

economy taking 

Manage a programme of proactive healthy living interventions: work with partners to help support and 
safeguard vulnerable residents. 

Community & Leisure: 

Total number of people achieving a target outcome from the Gr@nd healthy living 
services

Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

P I  40

Annual indicator

Design a quality and affordable leisure offer: improved facilities and creative sports programmes to 
tackle local health inequalities.

Total number of leisure centre attendees

0

500

1,000

1,500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

2,500

5,000

7,500

2019-20 2020-21
Page 6 of 21

P
age 93



P I  42 Total number of patron tickets sold by The Woodville

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 36 2019-20 10,658 12,358 21,127 6,968

2020-21 50 2020-21 0 2,413 3,415 241

2021-22 2021-22 107

2022-23 2022-23

P I  43 Average weekly Borough Market footfall

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 6,419 6,801 6,857 7,461

2020-21 980 6,192 4,582 2,223

2021-22 4,681

2022-23

#2 PLACE 

Enhance the borough’s cultural offer: maximise the usage of The Woodville and the Borough Market 
as community assets.

Develop a cohesive and resilient community: implement a leading programme of engagement 
initiatives, showcasing the borough’s diversity and enabling greater participation in civic life.

Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

Total number of community activities/events delivered by the council and in 
conjunction with its partners

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local 
economy taking 

P I  41

Annual indicator

Community & Leisure: 

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

20

40

60

2019-20 2020-21

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

Page 7 of 21

P
age 94



P I   44 Total number of visitors attending Gravesham heritage sites

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 4,936

2020-21 0

2021-22

2022-23

  

Community & Leisure: 
Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage: support local groups in their community reach and expand 
the visitor economy.

Annual indicator

#2 PLACE 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local 

economy taking 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

2019-20 2020-21

Page 8 of 21

P
age 95



P I  14 Total number of net additional homes added to the council tax valuation list

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 21 24 53 14

2020-21 45 71 17 69

2021-22 54

2022-23

P I  15 Gross number of affordable homes delivered

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 64

2020-21 135

2021-22

2022-23

Strategic Environment: 

Annual indicator

Cllr L. Sullivan a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building: increase the supply of high quality market 
and affordable housing.

#1 PEOPLE 

0

30

60

90

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

50

100

150

2019-20 2020-21
Page 9 of 21

P
age 96



P I  28 % rate of vacant town centre retail properties P I  30 Total rateable value of all commercial properties    

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 8.9% 8.7% 8.7% 9.0% 2019-20 £64,341,435 £64,368,585 £64,420,185 £64,751,422

2020-21 11.2% 11.1% 12.3% 12.0% 2020-21 £64,801,072 £64,759,342 £64,636,262 £65,463,462

2021-22 12.5% 2021-22 £64,914,937

2022-23 2022-23

P I  29 Average weekly Town Centre footfall P I  31 Total number of vacant commercial properties 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 117,111 115,228 106,208 94,276 2019-20 N/A 247 240 237

2020-21 40,386 91,077 72,701 47,360 2020-21 217 207 194 186

2021-22 81,812 2021-22 193

2022-23 2022-23

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Cllr L. Sullivan
#2 PLACE 

Enhance the vibrancy of the Gravesham economy: deliver a programme of strategic regeneration 
schemes, supported by an effective Town Centre team. 

Strategic Environment: 

Raise Gravesham’s economic profile: develop business and transport infrastructure and improve local 
land usage through a diversified commercial premises portfolio.

£64,000,000

£64,500,000

£65,000,000

£65,500,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

100

200

300

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

Page 10 of 21

P
age 97



P I  32 % net gain in active businesses                                          (refers to previous year)  P I  33 % rate of resident unemployment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 0.3% 2019-20 3.1% 3.3% 3.4% 3.5%

2020-21 4.3% 2020-21 7.2% 7.5% 7.3% 7.6%

2021-22 2021-22 6.6%

2022-23 2022-23

P I  34 % rate of youth unemployment

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5.2% 5.5% 5.6% 5.8%

2020-21 12.1% 12.8% 12.4% 13.2%

2021-22 11.6%

2022-23

Promote a borough ‘open for business’: with a focus on retaining existing businesses and encouraging new start-
ups, increase the level and range of business investment to drive economic growth. 

Strategic Environment: 
Cllr L. Sullivan

Improve economic conditions: alongside key partner agencies, develop a package of measures that 
support local enterprises and deliver a workforce with the skills needed by modern business.

#2 PLACE 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Annual indicator

0%

3%

6%

9%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0%

2%

4%

6%

2019-20 2020-21

Page 11 of 21

P
age 98



P I  35 % of ‘Major’ planning applications processed on time 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 75.0% 100% 100% 83.3%

2020-21 100% 100% 100% 100%

2021-22 50.0%

2022-23

P I   36 % of ‘Non-Major’ planning applications processed on time

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 61.4% 77.0% 77.0% 85.8%

2020-21 94.5% 100% 96.6% 95.8%

2021-22 97.6%

2022-23

Cllr L. Sullivan
#2 PLACE 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Positively promote sustainable development: deliver a pro-active development management service, 
underpinned by a sound Local Plan that protects and enhances our historic natural and built 
environment. 

Strategic Environment: 

40.0%

60.0%

80.0%

100.0%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

40.0%

60.0%

80.0%

100.0%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

Page 12 of 21

P
age 99



P I  3 Total number of reported Health & Safety incidents

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 11 3 4 5 2019-20 95.0% 98.0% 98.0% 99.0%

2020-21 6 6 4 12 2020-21 99.8% 99.0% 97.0% 98.0%

2021-22 7 2021-22 98.0%

2022-23 2022-23

P I  4 % of broadly compliant food establishments

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 93.0% 93.1% 94.2% 93.8%

2020-21 89.0% 87.7% 86.4% 84.0%

2021-22 83.2%

2022-23

% of environmental health service requests receiving a first response within five 
working days 

Operational Services: 

P I  5

Enforce high regulatory standards: put customer and employee safety first by ensuring commercial 
businesses and licence holders are fully compliant with expected legislative standards.

Cllr L. Croxton 
#1 PEOPLE 

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

5

10

15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

Page 13 of 21

P
age 100



P I  8 % of household waste recycled P I   10 % of household waste sent to landfill

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 44.3% 44.2% 42.6% 42.5% 2019-20 1.9%

2020-21 45.6% 45.1% 44.0% 44.0% 2020-21 1.4%

2021-22 44.3% 2021-22

2022-23 2022-23

P I  9 Total volume of residual waste per household (kg)

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 108.0 212.7 320.0 427.6

2020-21 125.1 240.0 359.0 481.2

2021-22 128.3

2022-23

Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the borough.

Annual indicator

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE 
Cllr L. Croxton 
Operational Services: 

0%

2%

4%

6%

2019-20 2020-2135%

40%

45%

50%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

200

400

600

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

Page 14 of 21

P
age 101



P I  11 Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC responsibility (days)

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 2.0 2.1

2020-21 1.2 1.2 2.4 2.4

2021-22 2.6

2022-23

P I  12 % of areas with unacceptable levels of littering

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

2020-21 N/A 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

2021-22 4.0%

2022-23

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

Operational Services: 

Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive town centre: a comprehensive 
programme of street cleansing and high standard of horticultural maintenance. 

N/A

Cllr L. Croxton 

0

1

2

3

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

Page 15 of 21

P
age 102



P I   39 % of council play sites annually inspected

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 100%

2020-21 100%

2021-22

2022-23

Annual indicator

Improve resident well-being: provide and preserve a suite of high quality play areas and promote 
opportunities for active lives.

Cllr L. Croxton 
Operational Services: 

#2 PLACE 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local 

economy taking 

40%

60%

80%

100%

2019-20 2020-21

Page 16 of 21

P
age 103



P I  23 Average processing time taken for Housing Benefit claims (days) P I   26 Total number of reported corporate complaints

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 12.6 12.7 12.2 12.8 2019-20 73 82 44 56

2020-21 15.9 13.8 12.8 12.8 2020-21 41 52 52 64

2021-22 14.1 2021-22 83

2022-23 2022-23

P I  24 Average processing time for changes of circumstance in Housing Benefit claims (days)

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5.2 4.9 4.8 4.0

2020-21 3.6 3.3 3.4 2.9

2021-22 6.8

2022-23

Performance & Administration: #1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.
Cllr N. Thandi

Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible to all. 

40

60

80

100

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

5

10

15

20

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

2

4

6

8

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

Page 17 of 21

P
age 104



P I  49 % of posts involved in shared service arrangements P I  50 Total number of people signed up to citizens access

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 6.1% 2019-20 103 1,519 2,757 4,484

2020-21 6.0% 2020-21 5,453 6,328 7,211 8,594

2021-22 2021-22 9,811

2022-23 2022-23

Performance & Administration: #3 PROGRESS
an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and 

committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by 

Digital innovation: provide the platforms for intelligent customer insight and a quality digital 
experience, and the IT solutions to transform services, delivering a dynamic working environment.

Annual indicator

Cllr N. Thandi

Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council: implement a programme of ‘continuous 
change’, overhauling business processes and delivering new, innovative service design.

0

4,000

8,000

12,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0%

5%

10%

15%

2019-20 2020-21

Page 18 of 21

P
age 105



P I  55 % of internal audit recommendations implemented P I  56 % of information requests completed within statutory deadline

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 70.6% 75.0% 73.1% 76.2% 2019-20 86% 86% 86% 84%

2020-21 62.5% 67.7% 62.5% 73.5% 2020-21 83% 88% 84% 86%

2021-22 37.5% 2021-22 84%

2022-23 2022-23

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust and benchmarked performance 
management framework, delivered by services underpinned with sound internal controls. 

Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of compliance with all policy, constitutional 
and legislative demands.

Cllr N. Thandi

#3 PROGRESS
Performance & Administration: 

25%

50%

75%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

Page 19 of 21

P
age 106



P I  16 Total number of empty private sector homes brought back into occupation P I  18 Average time taken to re-let council housing (days)

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 6 1 2 1 2019-20 29 23 21 22

2020-21 6 11 3 5 2020-21 53 30 22 26

2021-22 3 2021-22 22

2022-23 2022-23

P I  17 Total number of private sector homes brought up to standard 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5 2 2 12

2020-21 2 2 1 4

2021-22 9

2022-23

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service: high quality tenant 
management experienced through a service making full use of its assets. 

Housing Services:

Enforce a high quality of private housing: work with landlords to tackle property standards, empty 
homes and homes in multiple occupation.

Cllr J. Wallace 

0

20

40

60

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

5

10

15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

5

10

15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

Page 20 of 21

P
age 107



P I  19 % of Disabled Facility Grant applications processed on time P I  21 % of emergency jobs completed on time

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 100% 100% 100% 100% 2019-20 100% 100% 100% 100%

2020-21 100% 100% 100% 100% 2020-21 100% 100% 100% 100%

2021-22 99.5% 2021-22 100%

2022-23 2022-23

P I   20 Total number of households in temporary accommodation P I   22 % of council properties with valid gas safety certification

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 103 80 74 74 2019-20 100% 100% 100% 100%

2020-21 96 99 102 125 2020-21 99.6% 99.5% 99.8% 100%

2021-22 132 2021-22 100%

2022-23 2022-23

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

Deliver a skilled in-house building management team: progressively improve the standard and 
efficiency of local housing.

Safeguard residents: put in place a package of housing measures and creative interventions that support the 
most vulnerable.

Housing Services:
Cllr J. Wallace 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

50

100

150

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

97%

98%

99%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

Page 21 of 21

P
age 108



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 7 September 2021

Reporting officer: Chris Wakeford, Committee Services Manager

Subject: Review of GBC’s Maritime Strategy.

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Cabinet with the Scrutiny Review of GBC’S Maritime Strategy report, as approved 
by Members of the Overview Scrutiny Committee

Recommendations: 

Members are asked to consider the report at Appendix Two, taking into account the 
recommendations made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (summarised in section 
three of the covering report) and the proposals detailed in section four of the covering report.

Background

1.1 In July 2019 the Overview Scrutiny Committee agreed to conduct a review of 
GBC’s Maritime Strategy

1.2 In September 2019 The Terms of Reference were agreed by the Committee and 
the composition of the review sub-group was confirmed as follows:
Councillor Jordan Meade, Chair of the sub-group              
Councillor Conrad Broadley (replaced by Cllr Elizabeth Mulheran on 27.10.20)
Councillor Alan Ridgers (replaced by Cllr Leslie Hills on 3.12.20)
Councillor Christina Rolles (replaced by Cllr Emma Morley on 17.9.20)
Councillor Peter Scollard

1.3 The Committee agreed to aim to complete the review by March 2020, this was 
subsequently amended by the Committee at their meeting in January 2020 to a 
completion date of April 2020.  The pandemic resulted in the cessation of the 
review from March 2020. The Overview Scrutiny Committee then agreed to 
resume the review in September 2020 with a view to completing the review by 
March 2021. Consideration of the final draft of the review report was further 
postponed due to the Elections held in May 2021. The report was finalised and 
approved for submission to Cabinet at the Overview Scrutiny Committee held on 
10 June 2021

Page 109 Agenda Item 11



2

2. Evidence gathering

2.1 The review sub-group held eight evidence gathering sessions with various 
organisations including:

 the Port of London Authority

 Visit to the Rochester Riverside Development

 Riverside Clubs (Gravesend Sailing Club, Gravesend Rowing Club, 
Gravesend Regatta Society, PLA Community Outreach Manager) 

 Young People from the Youth Democracy Scheme

 GBC Planning Policy Department

 The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

 The Thames Estuary Envoy (Thames Estuary Growth Board)

 A Local Historian and the Assistant Director (Communities) GBC

3. Review Report and Recommendations

3.1 The Full Review report can be found at Appendix Two to this report.

3.2 In summary, the Scrutiny review of Gravesham Borough Council’s Maritime 
Strategy has identified seventeen recommendations for Cabinet consideration, as 
set out below

IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION

1. The lead Cabinet member should consider dedicating the Community & 
Leisure Committee agenda  to the ‘river’ once per year and invite 
representatives along from various groups to update members on 
activity throughout the year and how such groups could work better 
together in events or bid funding.

The purpose of the Group would be to encourage a joined up approach to the 
recreational and tourism aspects of the Thames - providing The Executive 
with a reliable group of stakeholders from which the Council may develop a 
better understanding of the needs of the river community

2. The Leader of the Executive consider adding the oversight of matters 
relating to the river, under the portfolio of a single Cabinet Member 

This will demonstrate the Council’s desire to have a key-point of entry for 
members of the public, organisations and businesses whom wish to engage 
on maritime matters.  

3. The Council should improve its engagement with Young People in 
matters relating to the river.

Page 110



3

The Council should work with the Port of London Authority and RNLI, acting 
as a facilitator to better communicate messages around River Safety to 
schools and local organisations.

The Executive Member for Young People should ask the Youth Council to 
appoint a “youth representative for the River” who will act as a stakeholder for 
the Cabinet to engage and consult with on matters concerning the 
recreational use of the Thames.

Councillors and Youth Councillors be provided with a tour (when conditions 
allow) of Northfleet Harbour and the Northfleet River frontage so that they can 
be better aware of the issues and opportunities.

The Executive engages and consults with the Youth Council on the Lower 
Thames Crossing giving young people a chance to feed into the mitigation 
process.

4. The Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure ensures that greater 
consideration is given to recreational/sport activities on the Thames and 
that these opportunities are communicated to young people across the 
Borough as part of the annual sports programme and listed on the Visit 
Gravesend website.

5. The Council consider passing a motion (in the name of the Leader and 
seconded by the Leader of the Opposition) which communicates the 
unanimous desire of Members to protect and enhance the river. 

Whilst this could not be attached as an annex to the Council’s Planning 
Polices it could be referenced as evidence to help inform planning decisions 
in the future.

6. The Council start to consider the real and immediate threat posed by 
global warming and the projected rise in water levels. 

The Executive should make sure that the Environment Agency is reporting 
back to the Council on this subject and that Planning Policy is considerate of 
the fact that greater flood defences will be needed in the near future. Disabled 
access should also be considered in relation to this matter.

7. The Leader of the Executive appoint a representative from the Council 
to attend public meetings of the All-Party Parliamentary Groups on 
Maritime and Ports, and the APPG on the River Thames

This will ensure that Gravesham has a voice amongst parliamentarians at 
these meetings. 

8. Members of the Executive and Members of the Planning Committee be 
taken on a tour of the borough’s river boundary (by boat) subject to the 
costs being covered from external sources.

This will provide a greater appreciation and understanding of the borough’s 
uniqueness from the river can be developed and help to inform future 
decision making. This should be done in collaboration with the Estuary Envoy, 
following her offer to facilitate such a trip.

Page 111



4

TO BE CONSIDERED FOR FUTURE DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS OR 
FUTURE BID APPLICATIONS TO APPROPRIATE FUNDING SOURCES

9. Plans be developed for the complete regeneration of the Promenade. 

The Executive should consider a feasibility study on improving and 
regenerating river fronted recreation areas such as St. Andrews Garden and 
The Riverside area.  This would then ensure that plans and scheme would be 
in place for when appropriate external funding becomes available.

This work should also include a commitment to making sure that all aspects 
of this space are DDA compliant.

For some bids this may be appropriate to join up its other users on the site 
such as the Gravesend Sailing Club, The Gravesend Rowing Club and LV21

10. The Council commences work, where possible, to promote and improve 
the access to the Saxon Shore Way. 

Planning policy should reflect a desire for developers to contribute towards 
the upkeep and ongoing maintenance of this path. 

The Executive may want to consider using the Community Payback scheme 
or the new Kickstart initiative to start clearing the pathway.

The Executive should explore the possibility of registering and administering 
the Promenade, Gordon Gardens and the Saxon Shore Way as a “Country 
Park” (Like Riverside Country Park in Gillingham).

11. When applying for grants it would be productive to conduct a public 
consultation on how the river can play a much more important part in 
the life of the borough and the type of events or facilities that local 
people would wish to see if the council were successful in the bid 
funding.

WORK ALREADY HAPPENING OR BEING DEVELOPED

12. The Executive should continue and strengthen the work with the Port of 
London Authority to promote and grow the Thames Visitor website, 
ensuring that it corresponds and complements the existing Visit 
Gravesend Website.

13. The Executive considers all possible options to improve access to the 
Thames for passengers, including working to secure a commuter ferry 
service from Gravesend to London.  

14. The Council should enhance their work with the EDC and the Northfleet 
Harbour Restoration Trust to preserve Rosherville assets and support 
the interim use of Northfleet Harbour for biodiversity and community 
use.

Page 112



5

The Council currently have good partnership working with the EDC and we 
are aware that EDC have already funded some work for the Northfleet 
Harbour Restoration Trust.  If this trust is to be successful in its aspirations 
the work needs a project plan, with key stages, so that successful bids can be 
submitted for the various stages or when such funding becomes available. 
 The Executive should consider if they could assist the Northfleet Harbour 
Restoration Trust with some expert guidance, so that they are in a better 
position to submit bids for funding.

15. The Executive begin to work with the Thames Estuary Growth Board 
(Thames Estuary Envoy) and local education providers to understand 
how opportunities such as the London Resort will require the 
upskilling/retraining of the local workforce.  

Under the Council’s commitment to Social Mobility an assessment should be 
carried out on the future skills gaps that we may have in the near future

16. The Council continues to build and take a much more active part in 
participating in partnership-programmes such as the Estuary Festival, 
using such events as a catalyst to promote tourism locally and in the 
wider area.

The Council is very involved with this years Estuary Festival and has led on 
some art installations and also obtained funding from Arts Council for a Fringe 
Festival, we hope that this relationship will grow as the Festival becomes 
bigger.

17. The Council consider sponsoring and/or facilitating a Maritime Festival 
weekend, to promote economic development, in which people from all 
backgrounds could have taster sessions in rowing, mud larking, sailing 
etc.

A small festival has already started which celebrates the river and is currently 
being organised for this year at St. Andrews Gardens.  The organisers have 
been spoken to and are considering how they might better involve others from 
the river community into the event and make residents and visitors aware of 
the many clubs that exist within the borough that make use of the river.

4. Proposed way forward

4.1 Cabinet Members are asked to discuss the review findings and in particular the 
recommendations and, if they are supportive of the recommendations, task the 
appropriate Director with progressing these recommendations accordingly.

4.2 Subject to Cabinet approval, an update on the recommendations will be provided 
to the Overview Scrutiny Committee in six months’ time, in line with the Council’s 
Constitution.

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 113



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal None identified at this stage. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

None identified at this stage.

Risk 
Assessment

None identified at this stage

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Strategic Objective 1 - Safer Gravesham
- Deliver on our ‘green agenda’ by increasing the levels of recycling and 

reducing the amount of residual household waste Generate service 
efficiencies to maintain weekly, effective rubbish collections.

- Deliver a quality built and green environment; keeping streets clean and 
maintaining a high standard of local horticulture

- Use all available powers to pursue anyone damaging the health of the local 
environment (e.g. dog fouling, littering, fly-tipping etc).

Strategic Objective 2 - Stronger Gravesham
- Promote Gravesham’s cultural and heritage offer, through initiatives such as 

helping to raise funds to bring back a museum in Gravesend
- Deliver an improved leisure offer; activities and facilities that increase 

sporting participation rates and address local health inequalities.
-

Climate 
Change

There are no climate change implications associated with this report.

Page 114



7

Crime and 
Disorder

None identified at this stage

Digital and 
website 
implications

None identified at this stage

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

None identified at this stage

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



June 2021
Approved for publication by:

Councillor Jordan Meade FRSA
Chairman of the Overview Scrutiny Committee of Gravesham Borough Council

Please note: the front cover picture is temporary and will be amended for the final report submitted to Cabinet

Appendix Two

Review of Gravesham Borough
Council’s Maritime Strategy

THE OVERVIEW SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Page 117



2 | P a g e

Contents

- 3 - Foreword

- 4 - Introduction and Summary of Recommendations

- 10 - Review Findings

Page 118



3 | P a g e

Foreword

The Maritime Strategy Review Sub-Group was established by the Overview Scrutiny Committee back 
in July 2019, with the express purpose of exploring how this authority could better promote 
Gravesham as a riparian borough. Throughout the review process, Non-Executive Members
assembled to explore areas such as Economic Development, Planning, Regeneration, Community 
and Stakeholder Engagement, Heritage and Tourism and Youth Opportunities. 

It would be remiss of me not to mention that this review was undertaken against the backdrop of 
COVID-19, resulting in the delayed delivery of the recommendations to the Executive. The majority 
of this review was conducted virtually and a special thanks should therefore be recorded to Chris 
Wakeford (Committee Services Manager) and to his colleagues in the Committee Section and IT 
department for their work in enabling this review to take place remotely. There can be no doubt at 
all that the pandemic fundamentally shifted our ability to go as in-depth as Members had hoped for 
when it came to engaging with external parties, however, thanks to the flexibility of Members and 
the willingness of stakeholders to partake, I am confident that this review and its recommendations 
serve as a starting point from which the Executive can build a brighter future for our borough’s 
unique relationship with the River Thames. 

As the Council begins the process of leading the community through the COVID-19 recovery, it is 
now even more important that the Executive takes time to reflect on the work of this review and the 
recommendations contained throughout this report. If these recommendations are realised, 
they will not only enhance the delivery of the Council’s services, they will also allow this Council to 
deliver on the priorities contained within the Corporate Plan. 

In the opening lines of Charles Dickens’ Great Expectations, we hear young Pip describe a scene: 

“Ours was the marsh country, down by the river, within, as the river wound, twenty miles of 
the sea. My first most vivid and broad impression of the identity of things, seems to me to 
have been gained on a memorable raw afternoon towards evening. At such a time I found out 
for certain, that this bleak place overgrown with nettles…” 

Now it is universally acknowledged by historians and literary folk alike, that it was the shoreline 
between Gravesend and Higham that inspired Dickens to set this scene, and indeed when walking 
the Saxon Shore Way as part of this review on a “raw” December evening, this setting came alive 
for me and with it the realisation that we in this authority today are the custodians of this ancient 
bond between land and river. Now parts of our river front rightfully remain “bleak” and throughout 
the tough times of this pandemic this urban bleakness has served as a point of escapism and therapy 
for many of our residents. Further still, and true to Dickens’ words, many of the riverside paths 
remain “overgrown with nettles”, but this point aside, after this review, I am confident that there is 
much that we can do together to ensure the survival and enhancements of these important sites for 
generations to come. 

It is therefore with a sense of hope that, on-behalf of the Overview Scrutiny Committee, I now 
commend these recommendations to the wisdom and consideration of the Executive. 

Cllr. Jordan Meade FRSA, Chairman of the Overview Scrutiny Committee.

Page 119



4 | P a g e

Introduction and Summary of Recommendations

1.1 In July 2019, the Overview Scrutiny Committee selected the subject of Gravesham Borough 
Council’s Maritime Strategy for a topic review. The terms of reference for the review were 
agreed in September 2019 and focused on the following areas:

 To undertake a review of how the Council promotes Gravesham as a riparian borough. 

 To further explore how the borough can capitalise on the River Thames as a driver for 
economic development.  

 To evaluate the effectiveness and review the delivery of the Council’s existing Thames-
based partnerships and scope out the potential for the creation of additional 
partnerships.  

 In the context of planning, explore how access to the River Thames can be improved for 
both recreational and commercial purposes. 

 To appraise existing infrastructure and how new developments can support riverside 
regeneration. 

 To find greater opportunities for young people and the wider community to utilise 
Gravesham’s river assets.  

 To enable the Portfolio Holder and Senior Officers to brief and consult on any proposed 
policy and procedural changes that might affect the Council’s Tourism and Planning 
Strategies in relation to The River Thames.   

1.2 Gravesham Borough Council’s Maritime Strategy Review sub-group Membership:

 Councillor Jordan Meade, Chair of the sub-group              
 Councillor Conrad Broadley (replaced by Cllr Elizabeth Mulheran on 27.10.20)
 Councillor Alan Ridgers (replaced by Cllr Leslie Hills on 3.12.20)
 Councillor Christina Rolles (replaced by Cllr Emma Morley on 17.9.20)
 Councillor Peter Scollard

1.3 The review sub-group held eight evidence gathering sessions with various organisations 
including:

 the Port of London Authority

 Visit to the Rochester Riverside Development

 Riverside Clubs (Gravesend Sailing Club, Gravesend Rowing Club, Gravesend Regatta 
Society, PLA Community Outreach Manager) 

 Young People from the Youth Democracy Scheme

 GBC Planning Policy Department

 The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

 The Thames Estuary Envoy (Thames Estuary Growth Board)

 A Local Historian and the Assistant Director (Communities) GBC

Page 120



5 | P a g e

Summary of Recommendations

1.4 In summary, the Scrutiny review of Gravesham Borough Council’s Maritime Strategy has 
identified sixteen recommendations for Cabinet consideration, as set out below:

RECOMMENDATION Report page

1.

IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION

The lead Cabinet member should consider dedicating the 
Community & Leisure Committee agenda  to the ‘river’ once 
per year and invite representatives along from various groups 
to update members on activity throughout the year and how 
such groups could work better together in events or bid 
funding.

The purpose of the Group would be to encourage a joined up 
approach to the recreational and tourism aspects of the 
Thames - providing The Executive with a reliable group of 
stakeholders from which the Council may develop a better 
understanding of the needs of the river community

11

2. The Leader of the Executive consider adding the oversight of 
matters relating to the river, under the portfolio of a single 
Cabinet Member 

This will demonstrate the Council’s desire to have a key-point 
of entry for members of the public, organisations and 
businesses whom wish to engage on maritime matters

11

3. The Council should improve its engagement with Young 
People in matters relating to the river.

The Council should work with the Port of London Authority and 
RNLI, acting as a facilitator to better communicate messages 
around River Safety to schools and local organisations.

The Executive Member for Young People should ask the Youth 
Council to appoint a “youth representative for the River” who 
will act as a stakeholder for the Cabinet to engage and consult 
with on matters concerning the recreational use of the 
Thames.

Councillors and Youth Councillors be provided with a tour 
(when conditions allow) of Northfleet Harbour and the 
Northfleet River frontage so that they can be better aware of 
the issues and opportunities.

The Executive engages and consults with the Youth Council on 
the Lower Thames Crossing giving young people a chance to 
feed into the mitigation process.

14

Page 121



6 | P a g e

4. The Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure ensures that 
greater consideration is given to recreational/sport activities 
on the Thames and that these opportunities are 
communicated to young people across the Borough as part of 
the annual sports programme and listed on the Visit 
Gravesend website.

15

5. The Council consider passing a motion (in the name of the 
Leader and seconded by the Leader of the Opposition) which 
communicates the unanimous desire of Members to protect 
and enhance the river. 

Whilst this could not be attached as an annex to the Council’s 
Planning Polices it could be referenced as evidence to help 
inform planning decisions in the future

16

6. The Council start to consider the real and immediate threat 
posed by global warming and the projected rise in water 
levels. 

The Executive should make sure that the Environment Agency 
is reporting back to the Council on this subject and that 
Planning Policy is considerate of the fact that greater flood 
defences will be needed in the near future. Disabled access 
should also be considered in relation to this matter.

16

7. The Leader of the Executive appoint a representative from 
the Council to attend public meetings of the All-Party 
Parliamentary Groups on Maritime and Ports, and the APPG 
on the River Thames.

This will ensure that Gravesham has a voice amongst 
parliamentarians at these meetings. 

20

8. Members of the Executive and Members of the Planning 
Committee be taken on a tour of the borough’s river 
boundary (by boat) subject to the costs being covered from 
external sources.

This will provide a greater appreciation and understanding of 
the borough’s uniqueness from the river can be developed and 
help to inform future decision making. This should be done in 
collaboration with the Estuary Envoy, following her offer to 
facilitate such a trip.

20

Page 122



7 | P a g e

9.

TO BE CONSIDERED FOR FUTURE DEVELOPMENT 
APPLICATIONS OR FUTURE BID APPLICATIONS TO 
APPROPRIATE FUNDING SOURCES

Plans be developed for the complete regeneration of the 
Promenade.

The Executive should consider a feasibility study on improving 
and regenerating river fronted recreation areas such as St. 
Andrews Garden and The Riverside area.  This would then 
ensure that plans and scheme would be in place for when 
appropriate external funding becomes available.

This work should also include a commitment to making sure 
that all aspects of this space are DDA compliant.

For some bids this may be appropriate to join up its other users 
on the site such as the Gravesend Sailing Club, The Gravesend 
Rowing Club and LV21

13

10. The Council commences work, where possible, to promote 
and improve access to Saxon Shore Way.

Planning policy should reflect a desire for developers to 
contribute towards the upkeep and ongoing maintenance of 
this path. 

The Executive may want to consider using the Community 
Payback scheme or the new Kickstart initiative to start clearing 
the pathway.

The Executive should explore the possibility of registering and 
administering the Promenade, Gordon Gardens and the Saxon 
Shoreway as a “Country Park” (Like Riverside Country Park in 
Gillingham).

15

11. When applying for grants it would be productive to conduct a 
public consultation on how the river can play a much more 
important part in the life of the borough and the type of 
events or facilities that local people would wish to see if the 
council were successful in the bid funding.

23

Page 123



8 | P a g e

12.

WORK ALREADY HAPPENING OR BEING DEVELOPED

The Executive should continue and strengthen the work with 
the Port of London Authority to promote and grow the 
Thames Visitor website, ensuring that it corresponds and 
complements the existing Visit Gravesend Website.

11

13. The Executive considers all possible options to improve access 
to the Thames for passengers, including working to secure a 
commuter ferry service from Gravesend to London.  

11

14. The Council should enhance their work with the EDC and the 
Northfleet Harbour Restoration Trust to preserve Rosherville 
assets and support the interim use of Northfleet Harbour for 
biodiversity and community use.

The Council currently have good partnership working with the 
EDC and we are aware that EDC have already funded some 
work for the Northfleet Harbour Restoration Trust. If this trust 
is to be successful in its aspirations the work needs a project 
plan, with key stages, so that successful bids can be submitted 
for the various stages or when such funding becomes available. 
The Executive should consider if they could assist the 
Northfleet Harbour Restoration Trust with some expert 
guidance, so that they are in a better position to submit bids 
for funding.

17

15. The Executive begin to work with the Thames Estuary Growth 
Board (Thames Estuary Envoy) and local education providers 
to understand how opportunities such as the London Resort 
will require the upskilling/retraining of the local workforce.  

Under the Council’s commitment to Social Mobility an 
assessment should be carried out on the future skills gaps that 
we may have in the near future

20

16. The Council continues to build and take a much more active 
part in participating in partnership-programmes such as the 
Estuary Festival, using such events as a catalyst to promote 
tourism locally and in the wider area.

The Council is very involved with this years Estuary Festival and 
has led on some art installations and also obtained funding 
from Arts Council for a Fringe Festival, we hope that this 
relationship will grow as the Festival becomes bigger.

20

Page 124



9 | P a g e

17. The Council consider sponsoring and/or facilitating a 
Maritime Festival weekend, to promote economic 
development, in which people from all backgrounds could 
have taster sessions in rowing, mud larking, sailing etc.

A small festival has already started which celebrates the river 
and is currently being organised for this year at St. Andrews 
Gardens.  The organisers have been spoken to and are 
considering how they might better involve others from the 
river community into the event and make residents and visitors 
aware of the many clubs that exist within the borough that 
make use of the river.

23

1.5 Further information to support these recommendations is contained within the body of the 
report.

Page 125



10 | P a g e

2. Review Findings

Evidence Gathering: Port of London Authority

2.1 On 20 December 2019, the sub-group held an evidence gathering session with Nadine 
Collins-Smith - Head of Thames Vision Delivery, Port of London Authority who outlined the 
goals of the Thames Vision:

 Port - Busiest ever Port of London, handling 60 – 80 million tonnes of cargo a yea
 Inland Waterways Freight - More goods and materials moved regularly: +4 m 

tonnes, taking over 400,000 lorry trips off roads
 Passenger trips - Double the number to 20 million trips a year
 Environment  - The cleanest river since the Industrial Revolution, with improved 

habitats
 Sport and Recreation - Greater participation in sport and recreation on and 

alongside the water
 Community and Culture - Thriving riverside, a magnet for visitors and locals

2.2  The sub-group discussed various aspects of the river and gleaned the following information:

 There are tensions between increasing sport and recreation and increased 
waterways freight. Consideration is needed for what’s appropriate for each part of 
river.

 Thames Path – Woolwich to Grain should be launched in 2020. PLA will look to work 
with EDC.

 Thames Clipper Service from Gravesend is being considered.
 West Street Pier was recently sold, the main interest is for tugboats to utilise it.
 Retrofitting technology monitoring: PLA has the first hybrid pilot cutter
 Cleaner Thames Campaign: the Thames is improving, ecology is quite good and the 

Tideway Tunnel (25km Super Sewer) will help
 The Sub-group agreed that it would be good to find out which officers attend the 

Thames Estuary Partnership.
  A Thames Visitor Website is being developed to promote the Thames more 

(Tourism & Heritage)
 Estuary 2020 - Hopefully more events can be held in Gravesham.
 PLA are doing more work on engaging schools (e.g. Thames Skills Academy and 

Annual Careers Fair on Dixie Queen) and will keep GBC updated on events / 
opportunities.

 PLA Investment Plan: Commercial. Semi-Commercial and Public good.
 Air Quality Strategy is currently being updated
 PLA are working on a response to transport for the South East Strategy, there might 

be a chance for Cllrs to have their input in how the river should be used.
 The PLA will look at visitor mooring next year and will consider Gravesham’s 

situation (e.g. Iron Pier, Clarendon Wharf, West Street. 42 Wharf, etc) and work with 
GBC regarding planning etc.

Page 126



11 | P a g e

 The PLA does not envision Tilbury 2 adversely affecting its goals.
 The PLA will look into how big ships might affect sport and recreation on the river 

(e.g. small riverside clubs) and review section 106 opportunities.

2.3 Members of the sub-group felt that a more joined-up approach was needed in regard to the 
recreational and tourism aspects of the River Thames.

RECOMMENDATION 1 - IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION

The lead Cabinet member should consider dedicating the Community & Leisure 
Committee agenda  to the ‘river’ once per year and invite representatives along from 
various groups to update members on activity throughout the year and how such groups 
could work better together in events or bid funding.

The purpose of the Group would be to encourage a joined up approach to the recreational 
and tourism aspects of the Thames - providing The Executive with a reliable group of 
stakeholders from which the Council may develop a better understanding of the needs of 
the river community.

RECOMMENDATION 2 - IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION

The Leader of the Executive consider adding the oversight of matters relating to the river, 
under the portfolio of a single Cabinet Member 

This will demonstrate the Council’s desire to have a key-point of entry for members of the 
public, organisations and businesses whom wish to engage on maritime matters.

RECOMMENDATION 12 - WORK ALREADY HAPPENING OR BEING DEVELOPED

The Executive should continue and strengthen the work with the Port of London Authority 
to promote and grow the Thames Visitor website, ensuring that it corresponds and 
complements the existing Visit Gravesend Website.

RECOMMENDATION 13 - WORK ALREADY HAPPENING OR BEING DEVELOPED

The Executive considers all possible options to improve access to the Thames for 
passengers, including working to secure a commuter ferry service from Gravesend to 
London.  

Evidence Gathering: Visit to the Rochester Riverside Development

Page 127



12 | P a g e

2.4 On 7 February 2020; Members of the sub-group visited the Rochester Riverside 
Development Scheme and met with Peter Sofoluke, the principal Architect behind the 
scheme.

2.5 The following areas were discussed and noted:

 Member engagement, use of River assets and how members from across the Council 
were involved in the design of the scheme.

 Sustainability and how the buildings were being designed not only to compliment 
the environment but with the environment in mind. 

 It was noted that as part of the initial design consultation, local councillors were 
given a Polaroid camera and told to go around Rochester taking snaps of 
architectural features of the town that they liked and felt would make the scheme 
more acceptable to local people. This worked well with the final design reflecting its 
surroundings well. 

 It was further noted that this scheme was looking to create "communities within 
communities" in that local shop units had been leased prior to the occupation of 
residential properties being occupied. 

 Members felt that while the scheme was strong in terms of design, sustainability 
and community engagement; opportunities for recreational access to the River 
Medway had not been realised.

Evidence Gathering: Gravesend Riverside Clubs

2.6 On 14 February 2020; the sub-group met with the following clubs: Gravesend Sailing Club, 
Gravesend Rowing Club, Gravesend Regatta Society, PLA Community Outreach Manager.

2.7 The following areas were discussed and noted:

 There was a general consensus that there needs to be “more joined up thinking” 
when it comes to the recreational use of the River.

 It was sometimes confusing which sports/recreational users of the River should 
contact for compliance/event support.

 There was a general consensus that club resources were limited and outdated. 
 Clubs/Groups hoped that with the Lower Thames Crossing there might be an 

opportunity for funding from mitigation to improve recreational access to the 
Thames, but they did not know who to contact with ideas or how to feed back to the 
consultation.

 All agreed that it was challenging to allow young people to participate in water-
based activity due to health and safety and lack of adult volunteers. 

 All agreed that we could make so much more of the River and the heritage of the 
Thames. 

 Gravesham has a lack of; changing facilities, exercise facilities and the club-based 
night-time economy offering that other riparian towns have.

Page 128



13 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION 9 – TO BE CONSIDERED FOR FUTURE DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS 
OR FUTURE BID APPLICATIONS TO APPROPRIATE FUNDING SOURCES

Plans be developed for the complete regeneration of the Promenade.

The Executive should consider a feasibility study on improving and regenerating river 
fronted recreation areas such as St. Andrews Garden and The Riverside area.  This would 
then ensure that plans and scheme would be in place for when appropriate external funding 
becomes available.

This work should also include a commitment to making sure that all aspects of this space are 
DDA compliant.

For some bids this may be appropriate to join up its other users on the site such as the 
Gravesend Sailing Club, The Gravesend Rowing Club and LV21

Evidence Gathering: Young People from the Youth Democracy Scheme

2.8 On 21 February 2020; the sub-group met with Young People from the Youth Democracy 
Scheme

2.9 The following areas were discussed and noted:

 The young people had a generally good awareness of the River and the Borough’s 
riparian offering. There was a consensus that many young people in the town would 
not use places such as the Fort Gardens, The Prom or St Andrews’ Gardens as they 
worried about safety and “the type of people” that congregated in these spaces. 
This was particularly prominent in the winter months where it was expressed that a 
lack of lighting around the river front makes it feel “unsafe” and not the type of 
place that a young person would want to go. 

 The group were unaware of assets in Northfleet such as Northfleet Harbour, the 
Northfleet Beach and the industrial heritage in Northfleet connected to the River.

 The group was aware that recreational activities took place on the Thames, but they 
were generally unaware of how they could participate in the activity of the clubs. 
They felt that the clubs were not doing enough to make themselves attractive to 
young people. 

 The group felt that the Council should do more to promote these recreational 
opportunities within schools as an alterative to the traditional fun runs and sports 
like tennis. 

 Many in the group felt that “we were missing a trick” in not providing more 
recreational activities connected to the enjoyment of the River.

 There was a consensus in the group that not enough was done locally to educate 
young people about the importance of the River Thames and there was equally little 
done to promote safety. It was suggested that the Council and Schools should 
develop a local curriculum around this. 

 The group did not have a clear understanding of “Thames Gateway”, “The Estuary” 
and they additionally did not know about the “Port of London Authority”. 

 On being presented with a map of the River the group found it challenging to 
demonstrate direction and to identify local places/landmarks. 

Page 129



14 | P a g e

 The Group did not know about the Saxon Shoreway and on being told about it 
stated that the Council should do more to promote this as a key feature of our 
borough. 

 The group did not know that the PLA was based in Gravesend and further still they 
had no idea about the career opportunities available. It was discussed that the 
Council should work with the PLA to better present these opportunities and further 
still it would be useful to identify future skills gaps in careers on the river, so that 
Gravesham students could adapt their studies to make the most of these 
opportunities.  

 It was agreed that the historical and cultural importance of the River Thames at 
Gravesend is often forgotten or ignored.

 There was consensus that a Ferry to London would be seen as a uniquely ‘cool‘ 
alternative to travelling on the train and that such a facility would be used by young 
people especially when going to concerts in Greenwich and other hard to reach by 
train locations.

 The young people suggested that the promenade area was outdated and lacked 
anything interesting. 

 The young people further suggested that the club facilities along the promenade 
looked tired and that the area could do with an uplift.

 There was concern over the Lower Thames Crossing and it was unanimously agreed 
that Highways England had failed to engage with young people throughout the 
process thus far. 

RECOMMENDATION 3 – IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION

The Council should improve its engagement with Young People in matters relating to the 
river.

The Council should work with the Port of London Authority and RNLI, acting as a facilitator 
to better communicate messages around River Safety to schools and local organisations.

The Executive Member for Young People should ask the Youth Council to appoint a “youth 
representative for the River” who will act as a stakeholder for the Cabinet to engage and 
consult with on matters concerning the recreational use of the Thames.

Councillors and Youth Councillors be provided with a tour (when conditions allow) of 
Northfleet Harbour and the Northfleet River frontage so that they can be better aware of 
the issues and opportunities.

The Executive engages and consults with the Youth Council on the Lower Thames Crossing 
giving young people a chance to feed into the mitigation process.

RECOMMENDATION 4 - IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION

The Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure ensures that greater consideration is given 
to recreational/sport activities on the Thames and that these opportunities are 

Page 130



15 | P a g e

communicated to young people across the Borough as part of the annual sports 
programme and listed on the Visit Gravesend website.

RECOMMENDATION 10 - TO BE CONSIDERED FOR FUTURE DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS 
OR FUTURE BID APPLICATIONS TO APPROPRIATE FUNDING SOURCES

The Council commences work, where possible, to promote and improve access to Saxon 
Shore Way.

Planning policy should reflect a desire for developers to contribute towards the upkeep and 
ongoing maintenance of this path. 

The Executive may want to consider using the Community Payback scheme or the new 
Kickstart initiative to start clearing the pathway.

The Executive should explore the possibility of registering and administering the 
Promenade, Gordon Gardens and the Saxon Shoreway as a “Country Park” (Like Riverside 
Country Park in Gillingham).

Evidence Gathering: Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) Planning Policy Overview

2.10 On 19 November 2020; the sub-group met with Wendy Lane, Assistant Director (Planning) at 
Gravesham Borough Council for a Planning Policy Overview.

2.11 The following areas were discussed and noted:

 In April 2018, the Council consulted on the draft Development Management (DM) 
policies including Proposed Policy DM 41: Designing for a High Quality and Accessible 
Riverside and we are back out to consultation again on the draft DM policies including 
Proposed Policy DES 4: Designing for a High Quality and Accessible Riverside

 The PLA wants to work closer with the council to facilitate the safe use of the river for 
recreational activities

 The Council could work with the PLA to communicate messages around river safety.
 The inclusion of the policy was felt to go a long way in pulling together all GBC policies 

on the river that have in past been sporadic. 
 Gravesend is a riverside heritage town and proud of it.
 Gravesham has come a long way with riverside regeneration; Clifton Slipways is coming 

forward, Thames Clipper discussions, Tilbury Ferry, London Resort, Tilbury 2, 
Swanscombe Peninsula.

 Climate Change / Flood Defence: the Council’s approach is policy compliant – flood 
levels are always estimates, GBC work with the Environment Agency

 Thames Estuary 2100 issue. If on the wrong side of a new barrier GBC would need to 
look at our flood defences.

Page 131



16 | P a g e

 It would be good to go back and query when they will make bigger plan decisions on 
where that barrier might be so developments can give relevant offsets.

 Saxon Shoreline / riverside pathways – need to be considered as part of developments 
or ongoing maintenance repair.

 Thames & Medway Canal – the Council feels it is pushing the right direction of a visual 
link, if not navigational link.

 Pier - general maintenance; like for like repair would generally be fine. There are very 
detailed plans on how maintenance is done but can’t replace old bits.

 The Marine Management Organisation have helped relations with the PLA and working 
together.

 Communicating political will to protect the river and its assets couldn’t be attached as an 
annex to the Planning Policy but it could be referenced as evidence.

RECOMMENDATION 5 – IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION

Plans The Council consider passing a motion (in the name of the Leader and seconded by 
the Leader of the Opposition) which communicates the unanimous desire of Members to 
protect and enhance the river. 

Whilst this could not be attached as an annex to the Council’s Planning Polices it could be 
referenced as evidence to help inform planning decisions in the future

RECOMMENDATION 6 - IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION

The Council start to consider the real and immediate threat posed by global warming and 
the projected rise in water levels.

The Executive should make sure that the Environment Agency is reporting back to the 
Council on this subject and that Planning Policy is considerate of the fact that greater flood 
defences will be needed in the near future. Disabled access should also be considered in 
relation to this matter.

Evidence Gathering: Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

2.12 On 3 December 2020; the sub-group met with Ian Piper – CEO, Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation (EDC) 

2.13 The following areas were discussed / noted:

 Flood barriers: challenging area. Environment Agency want much higher flood defences. 
EDC have had meetings to work out what can be done & not create a major barrier 
between housing and the river.

Page 132



17 | P a g e

 A Cruise terminal has been mentioned but not sure if its serious. A Clipper Terminal 
would be fantastic.

 Maritime features: very strong heritage assets in the area; the foundry around Robins 
Creek; want to enhance that. If Councillors know of assets down there, EDC would be 
happy to hear about them.

 Harbour facilities: lock gates - EDC are not planning to invest in these and this has been 
made clear to the Harbour Trust. 

 Memorial on Tarmac site – EDC are happy to talk about where the best site is to put it
 The Tarmac site is tricky with fragmented ownership and its hard to get access to the 

waterfront 
 Moorings at Robin’s Creek would be great but might have to be on the Thames side.
 Board appointments at EDC - might be something to reflect upon when writing the 

review recommendations – write to government explaining that it is the desire of the 
Council to have appointments confirmed ASAP.

 EDC is working with the Environment Agency on water levels etc and will create a 
detailed plan that can be shared with the Council.

 Blue Lake could potentially be a good site for recreational activities (Scouts, Sea Cadets 
etc)

 EDC have done a lot of work on what a succession arrangement would look like – 
stewardship trust; looking to put that in place and other governance arrangements.

 Flood defences: Environment Agency have a plan for impact looking at the long term. 
EDC have been looking at options and discussing them with the Environment Agency. 

 EDC have learnt from what others have done in this field and want to benchmark with 
the best and produce something people can be proud of.

RECOMMENDATION 14 – WORK ALREADY HAPPENING OR BEING DEVELOPED

The Council should enhance their work with the EDC and the Northfleet Harbour 
Restoration Trust to preserve Rosherville assets and support the interim use of Northfleet 
Harbour for biodiversity and community use.

The Council currently have good partnership working with the EDC and we are aware that 
EDC have already funded some work for the Northfleet Harbour Restoration Trust. If this 
trust is to be successful in its aspirations the work needs a project plan, with key stages, so 
that successful bids can be submitted for the various stages or when such funding becomes 
available. The Executive should consider if they could assist the Northfleet Harbour 
Restoration Trust with some expert guidance, so that they are in a better position to submit 
bids for funding.

Page 133



18 | P a g e

Evidence Gathering: Thames Estuary Envoy

2.14 On 8 December 2020; the sub-group met with Kate Willard, OBE, the Thames Estuary Envoy 
and Chair of the Thames Estuary Growth Board (the Board)

2.15 The following areas were discussed / noted:

 Members’ attention was drawn to the Thames Estuary Growth Board Plan, “The 
Green Blue”, which was a plan to transform the Thames Estuary area of North Kent, 
South Essex and East London and concentrated on non-duplication and sustainable 
growth which included leading the hydrogen investment strategy.

 Whilst the river tended to be considered as a serious barrier, the Board would very 
much like to see infrastructure being built under the river. However, it was 
recognised that this would be very expensive. The Green agenda was therefore 
being considered and, for example, the Board had been liaising with Thames Clipper 
in an effort to increase river traffic and the number of clients accessing the service. 
Community energy schemes and community minibuses were also being 
investigated.

 The maritime heritage of the estuary was considered to be very important and the 
Borough Council had been working with Estuary 21 who the Board also supported. 
Estuary-wide work was also being undertaken on the cultural heritage agenda which 
included a festival and also linked events into the development of local economies.

 In relation to Good Green Growth, it was considered that growth should be 
quantified or it might have a negative effect on an area and work towards 
sustainable growth must be undertaken such as the transportation and storage of 
hydrogen which was likely to be in high demand. Therefore, the factoring in of all 
these considerations should result in a sustainable, financial economy in terms of 
the climate.

 It was noted that the Board considered there to be too much housing on the river 
frontage which did not leave enough room for freight. A balance between housing, 
freight and recreational requirements needed to be sought.

 It was recognised that an estuary path would be a good way of accessing the river 
frontage and the Board encouraged the linking up of green spaces including the 
Estuary Park.

 It was noted that the Borough Council had participated in the Estuary Festival and 
had considered that there was too much about Essex. However, it was recognised 
that this was changing. It was noted that the Board did not have a grant scheme for 
the festival. The Council was encouraged to keep an eye on the Arts Council who 
would be delivering a new Strategy that would be published in early 2021 which 
might provide opportunities for the Council.

 Following a question on the river historically being a hub for employment, Members 
were advised that a meeting of the Board had taken place on a boat as not many 
Board members had seen their areas from the water. The Strategy had since been 
launched and the Board was taking a multi-facetted approach including encouraging 

Page 134



19 | P a g e

the use of the river for transport and was speaking with operators who were 
experiencing some skills shortages.

 It was noted that mobility across the river was very important because new 
development such as the London Resort, Tilbury etc would need skilled workers. The 
Board was currently considering this matter, looking at the available means of 
crossing the river, what was available on the other side and whether this would only 
attract a niche market or would appeal to a wider range of potential users.

 Following a question on how the Borough Council could make its voice heard with 
regard to big projects, the Sub-Committee was advised that the Borough Council 
was already doing a good job and had a good relationship with the Board. The Envoy 
also promoted a clarity of voice which meant working out the three things the 
Council most wanted from a particular opportunity and to hone the ability to 
present these requirements in less than 30 seconds. She added that if the Council 
supported the Board then the Board would support the Council.

 The City of London Corporation had close links with MPs, civil servants and All Party 
Parliamentary Groups (APPGs) for example the Hydrogen APPG. The Board was 
working out how to work with the APPGs.

 The Board also worked with a wide range of other stakeholders such as Natural 
England. Whilst it was important to have a defined list of stakeholders it was also 
important not to have a closed list. The Envoy confirmed that she was not a fan of 
bureaucracy and invited stakeholders to phone or email her directly.

 It was reported that it was normal for support for Development Consent Orders 
(DCOs) such as the Lower Thames Crossing to falter and the Board intended to work 
with colleagues to resolve the issues on this challenging project. The Board’s support 
of this project also acknowledged the issues in Thurrock but also recognised that 
benefits such as to highways, to the economy and employment opportunities made 
the project sustainable. The Envoy invited the Council to copy her in when 
submitting their concerns and comments to the Lower Thames Crossing and Kent 
Highways etc.

 It was recognised that global warming would change the face of the Thames, that a 
new Thames Barrier might be needed and new flood defence regulations had been 
approved. This meant that developers needed to understand flood defence issues 
otherwise developments might become stalled.

 The protection of heritage and natural sites were part of a larger conversation with 
relevant partners such as the RSPB.

 It was noted that the achieving National Park status for the estuary and its riverside 
was unlikely as it would be very complex to balance the industrial, housing and 
employment needs of the area with the need to protect its heritage and green 
spaces. However, more specific forms of protection were more likely and a strategy 
would be coherent but would not offer blanket protection because of the need for 
the area to grow economically.

Page 135



20 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION 7 – IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION

The Leader of the Executive appoint a representative from the Council to attend public 
meetings of the All-Party Parliamentary Groups on Maritime and Ports, and the APPG on 
the River Thames.

This will ensure that Gravesham has a voice amongst parliamentarians at these meetings. 

RECOMMENDATION 8 - IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION

Members of the Executive and Members of the Planning Committee be taken on a tour of 
the borough’s river boundary (by boat) subject to the costs being covered from external 
sources.

This will provide a greater appreciation and understanding of the borough’s uniqueness 
from the river can be developed and help to inform future decision making. This should be 
done in collaboration with the Estuary Envoy, following her offer to facilitate such a trip.

RECOMMENDATION 15 - WORK ALREADY HAPPENING OR BEING DEVELOPED

The Executive begin to work with the Thames Estuary Growth Board (Thames Estuary 
Envoy) and local education providers to understand how opportunities such as the London 
Resort will require the upskilling/retraining of the local workforce.  

Under the Council’s commitment to Social Mobility an assessment should be carried out on 
the future skills gaps that we may have in the near future

RECOMMENDATION 16 - WORK ALREADY HAPPENING OR BEING DEVELOPED

The Council continues to build and take a much more active part in participating in 
partnership-programmes such as the Estuary Festival, using such events as a catalyst to 
promote tourism locally and in the wider area.

The Council is very involved with this years Estuary Festival and has led on some art 
installations and also obtained funding from Arts Council for a Fringe Festival, we hope that 
this relationship will grow as the Festival becomes bigger.

Page 136



21 | P a g e

Evidence Gathering: Local Historian and Assistant Director (Communities) GBC.

2.16 On 3 February 2021; the sub-group met with Christoph Bull, Local Historian and Simon 
Hookway, Assistant Director (Communities) at Gravesham Borough Council to discuss events 
designed to promote, preserve and protect the riverside.

2.17 Christoph Bull addressed the meeting and raised the following points;

 Rochester, Gravesend’s main rival with regard to river related events, had claimed 
Charles Dickens. However, Charles Dickens also had strong links with Gravesham. In 
addition, Dartford had a steam festival which had been designed around a local man 
named Richard Trevithick.

 Gravesham’s huge advantage was that there was access to the riverside in Gravesend, 
Northfleet and further into the marshes. This access had bought the way to the world 
and the world to Gravesham.

 In addition, there were links with Essex which Medway and Dartford did not have with 
attractions which could be taken advantage of such as the World’s End pub and Tilbury 
Fort.

 It was noted that Gravesham had lots of interest such as its ethnic diversity, shops, 
museums, gardens etc.

 Any events should be Kentish but tunnel vision should be avoided and the visitors from 
outside the Borough were key to the future success of riverside events.

 The need to made the offer more interesting was mentioned including the possibility of 
a Black Country living museum on the undershore on Northfleet creek and harbour 
which might include a boat repair workshop. There was also Gravesend Promenade and 
the Fort Gardens where a visitor might also take in the Milton Chantry and the tunnels.

 Gravesend also had the Regatta, which could be improved, the oldest caste iron pier in 
the world, the Clarendon Hotel, the Three Daws pub, Charles Dickens, Pocahontas, 
General Gordon and Gunther Plüschow (1886-1931) the only German POW to have 
escaped from the UK (Gravesend in 1915) in both WWI and WWII. There was also the 
Saxon Shore Way along which many interesting places to visit were located and where 
guided walks were held.

 It was suggested that branding and a recognisable logo for riverside events be 
considered to allow people to relate events to good times they had already had in 
Gravesham and to link the events together. It was suggested that historical figures with 
links to the area could be used.

 Previously held events which could be re-instated such as the Edwardian Fair, the Frost 
fair and other attractions could be signposted at events such as these.

 Food was highlighted as a trendy attraction such as ethnic street food. The possibility of 
bringing back shrimps and watercress as a local delicacy was suggested.

 The Gurdwara which is the largest Gurdwara complex in the UK, has links to the river 
and was within walking distance.

 Visitors to the area came from nearby towns such as Basildon in Essex who enjoyed the 
historic buildings.

2.18 The Assistant Director (Communities) advised that the creation of experiences in the area 
was in the Council’s Tourism & Heritage Strategy and included walking tours, meals in 
unusual settings, talks at places not normally open to the public and the details were on the 
Visit Kent website under a project names “Experience” that the Council was involved in. 
These were normally small scale, bookable and would enhance a bigger product. The 

Page 137



22 | P a g e

foundations were in pace and were designed to start small with manageable hours so there 
was a base to grow from. Trying out sailing on the river was also being considered. The 
officer felt that visitors to the Borough combined visits to places of interest and meeting up 
with friends for a meal rather than visiting one specific place and he considered that the 
branding idea could be incorporated in this approach.

2.19 The following areas were discussed / noted:
 Encouraging boats to be moored in the vicinity of events as an added attraction.
 It was advised that Northfleet Creek and the Fountain building were being cleaned and 

renovated.
 The need to ensure the S106 money from developers to be put towards riverside 

heritage projects.
 Public notice boards giving information on local attractions and the need for these to be 

interesting but succinct. Once a visitor pays to see an attraction, then more information 
would be made available.

 The existing information board walks were highlighted.
 The existence of maritime places of interest was highlighted including Fort Gardens 

which needed improvement as did the promenade. However, the promenade would 
need planning permission and funding.

 The need with links to other places was recognised as it would be difficult for Gravesham 
to stand alone. Most of the riverside was either marshland, housing development or 
flood defences. Housing developments sometimes allowed for a riverside path but the 
flood defences (Environment Agency) tended to obstruct the view of the river.

 In relation to sailing it was noted that this would have to be carefully considered as the 
river was tidal with dangerous currents. 

 Applying for country park status for the area was mentioned as had been achieved in 
Gillingham. The status needed public toilets, a café and possibly a visitor centre all of 
which Gravesend had if the promenade was included. Country park status might serve as 
a catalyst for rebranding.

 It was noted that the Three Daws to Halfords walk was difficult to negotiate from a 
disability point of view and this should be borne in mind when developments along the 
riverside are being planned.

 In relation to the possible expansion of the Regatta, a boat race was suggested.
 Havant and Portsmouth had a best of the Borough photographic competition via 

Instagram asking for abstract photos of maritime features which engaged younger 
people.

 A feasibility study into the possible creation of a museum had been carried out 
approximately 10 years ago. It was felt that the Council should still have the study which 
might prove to be of some use.

 It was agreed that access to the shoreline should be made compulsory for any type of 
riverside development and it was confirmed that this requirement was included in the 
Local Plan. The meeting was told that the Assistant Director (Planning) had advised that 
a declaration to this effect needed to be agreed at Full Council to be used as 
supplementary evidence. It was also suggested that the Environment Agency should 
contribute to the conversation in relation to flood defences and accessibility.

 The Assistant Director (Communities) drew attention to the Riverside Festival held in the 
summer which he felt should be promoted further afield.

 It was noted that the scale of the Estuary Festival had been a surprise which had also 
taken place in Tilbury as well as Kent and a 2021 Festival had been announced and an 
update on the programme would be submitted to the Community & Leisure Cabinet 

Page 138



23 | P a g e

Committee. The Festival attracted partnership working for example, the Estuary Envoy 
which was a good model to use.

 Reference was made to the Dartford Festival which was made up of floats created by 
local groups such as the brownies. Dartford Borough Council allegedly broke even on the 
festival, which was very popular, so there may be lessons to be learned. A parade to a 
festival was suggested and it was noted that there was space at Riverside Park.

 The need to “grow” an event was recognised together with working with local 
businesses.

2.20 In relation to a possible festival/parade event, the following suggestions were made:
 A May Day festival as parades did well in Gravesham.
 A parade with floats and prizes, stall etc.
 A nautical themed weekend possibly expanding on the Regatta. It was noted that the 

inclusion of a fairground had taken the emphasis off the Regatta.
 Boat races with commentary with no other events taking place at the same time.
 A range of musical offerings to suit all tastes.
 Shrimping and crabbing competitions – award to be presented by the Mayor.
 It was noted that access to the town pier would be a good draw for a riverside event.
 The Port of London Authority had mentioned that all mud larking licenses had been 

allocated in London but none had been allocated in the upper reaches of the river. If it 
could be made safe, it could be built into an event and be a good example of partnership 
working.

 Partnership working was cited as being essential and a way of ensuring that the Borough 
Council did not have organise everything. A facilitator role would also be essential.

RECOMMENDATION 11 – TO BE CONSIDERED FOR FUTURE DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS 
OR FUTURE BID APPLICATIONS TO APPROPRIATE  FUNDING SOURCES

When applying for grants it would be productive to conduct a public consultation on how 
the river can play a much more important part in the life of the borough and the type of 
events or facilities that local people would wish to see if the council were successful in the 
bid funding.

RECOMMENDATION 17 – WORK ALREADY HAPPENING OR BEING DEVELOPED

The Council consider sponsoring and/or facilitating a Maritime Festival weekend, to 
promote economic development, in which people from all backgrounds could have taster 
sessions in rowing, mud larking, sailing etc.

A small festival has already started which celebrates the river and is currently being 
organised for this year at St. Andrews Gardens.  The organisers have been spoken to and are 
considering how they might better involve others from the river community into the event 
and make residents and visitors aware of the many clubs that exist within the borough that 
make use of the river.

Page 139



24 | P a g e

Page 140



Document is Restricted

Page 141 Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Minutes of meeting of Gravesham Joint Transportation Board
	7 General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2021/22 - Quarter One
	Appendix 2 - MTFP - V2 - 2021-22 - BMR Q1
	Appendix 3 - Investments as at 30 June 2021

	8 HRA Budget Monitoring Report 2021/22 - Quarter One
	Appendix 2 HRA Business Plan - Capital Q1
	Appendix 3 HRA Business Plan - Revenue Q1

	9 LGA Peer challenge Follow-up report an action plan
	2. Appendix Two - Gravesham BC CPC follow-up report 2021
	3. LGA Peer Challenge - Updated Action Plan - Cabinet

	10 Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2021-22
	Cabinet - Q1 2021-22 Performance Report - Appendix 2
	Front sheet
	Q1 2021-22


	11 Maritime Strategy Scrutiny Review
	TopicreviewReportMaritimeFINAL

	14 Drawdown request from Rosherville Property Development Limited
	2. Appendix two - Year 2 - Request for Funding (RPDL)




